# Mood-related Differences in Cerebral Blood Flow in Adolescents with Bipolar Disorder

Simina Toma

A thesis submitted in conformity with the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Graduate Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology

University of Toronto

© Copyright by Simina Toma, 2019

### Mood-Related Differences in Cerebral Blood Flow in Adolescents with Bipolar Disorder

Simina Toma

Master of Science

Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology

Year of Convocation - 2019

Abstract (146/150)

Numerous adult bipolar disorder (BD) studies have examined cerebral blood flow (CBF) in relation to mood, whereas little is known on this topic in adolescents. We enrolled 129 adolescents (mean age 17.34+/-1.42 years), including 72 BD (28 hypomanic/mixed, 19 depressed, 25 euthymic) and 57 healthy controls (HC). Pseudocontinuous arterial spin labeling (ASL) magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) evaluated CBF, using both a region of interest and whole brain voxel-wise approach. Within-BD analysis examined the association of mania and depression severity with CBF. We found differences in terms of CBF between groups with higher CBF in the BD euthymic group than in HC and symptomatic BD in temporal, precentral, and occipital regions. Severity of depressive symptoms in BD was negatively correlated with CBF in the anterior cingulate cortex and temporal regions. Higher CBF in euthymic BD adolescents may reflect developmentally-specific compensatory CBF regulation mechanisms required to maintain euthymia.

ii

# Acknowledgments

This project could never have been possible without the assistance and support of the entire team at the Center for Youth Bipolar Disorder (CYBD) as well as the study participants and their families.

First, I wish to thank my supervisor, Dr. Benjamin Goldstein, for his excellent mentorship throughout my graduate degree and beyond. I have only started research in midresidency, and Dr. Goldstein has been an instrumental part of this through his commitment to academic excellence, intellectual generosity and constant support. He has certainly helped me grow as a researcher, as a clinician and as a person.

I also want to thank Anahit Grigorian for her outstanding work with imaging analysis and her support throughout this project and many others. Lisa Fiksenbaum has provided outstanding support and guidance for the statistical part of this project, and has greatly enhanced my knowledge of statistics. Vanessa Timmins, Danielle Omrin and Jessica Roane have provided tremendous support through their commitment to all aspects of CYBD and have always done so with kindness and care. Alysha Sultan, my fellow graduate student in pharmacology has been a source of support as we have navigated the program side by side.

Dr. Bradley MacIntosh and his lab, especially Nicholas Luciw, have greatly assisted with the genesis and progression of this project, through their creative thinking and outstanding collaboration. I also want to thank Dr. Walter Swardfager, my advisor, for his valuable input and teaching.

Finally, I want to acknowledge my colleagues and friends in the Clinician Scientist Program in the Department of Psychiatry at the University of Toronto who have always

iii

been there to support the integration of clinical work and research, through the wonders and challenges of residency and fellowship.

# **Table of Contents**

L	ist of figures v	ii
L	ist of tablesv	ii
L	ist of abbreviationsv	ii
1.	Introduction	1
	1.1 Statement of problem	.1
	<b>1.2</b> Review of literature	2.2 .3 .4 .5
	1.3 Purpose of study and objectives1	.5
2	Materials and methods1	7
	2.1 Study design1	7
	<b>2.2 Participant selection</b> 1         2.2.1 Participant recruitment       1         2.2.2 Inclusion and exclusion criteria       1	<b>7</b> 7
	<b>2.3 Clinical and demographic characteristics</b> 1         2.2.1 Interview instruments employed       1         2.3.2 Diagnostic measures of mood and mood states       1	<b>8</b> .8
	<b>2.4 Imaging</b> 22.4.1 Image acquisition22.4.2 ASL processing22.4.3 Anatomical image processing2	1 1 1 22
	2.5 Defining regions of interest	2
	2.6 Statistical analyses2	3
	2.6 Whole brain exploratory analyses2	4
3	Results	5
	3.1 Demographic and clinical characteristics	5
	<b>3.2 Region of interest analyses 2</b> 3.2.1 Group comparison       2         3.2.2 Correlation between symptoms and cerebral blood flow       3	<b>7</b> 27
	3.2       Whole brain-analyses       3         3.3.1 Group comparison       3         3.3.2 Correlation between symptoms and cerebral blood flow       3	<b>1</b> 13
4	Discussion	4
	4.1 Summary of findings	4

4.2 Interpretation of findings	35
4.2.1 Neurodevelopment and cerebral blood flow	
4.2.2 Studies of cerebral blood flow in psychiatric populations in adolescents	
4.2.3 Cerebral blood flow during euthymia	
4.2.4 Cerebral blood flow in relation to severity of depressive symptoms	41
4.2.5 Cerebral blood flow in relation to medication	42
4.2.6 Cerebral blood flow, vascular pathology and inflammation	43
4.3 Limitations	45
4.4 Future directions	47
4.5 Conclusion	48
References	50
Appendices	

# List of figures

Figure 2. CBF in the anterior cingulate cortex and clinical scores in adolescents with BD Figure 3. Regions of higher CBF in BD euthymic adolescents in contrast to HC adolescents	Figure 1. CBF in regions of interest in BD adolescents across mood states and in HC	20
Figure 2. CBF in the anterior cingulate cortex and clinical scores in adolescents with BD 29 Figure 3. Regions of higher CBF in BD euthymic adolescents in contrast to HC adolescents	autorescents	20
29         Figure 3. Regions of higher CBF in BD euthymic adolescents in contrast to HC         adolescents	Figure 2. CBF in the anterior cingulate cortex and clinical scores in adolescents with B	D
Figure 3. Regions of higher CBF in BD euthymic adolescents in contrast to HC       30         adolescents       30         Figure 4. Regions of higher CBF in euthymic adolescents with BD in contrast to BD       31         Figure 5. Regions of negative correlation between DRS and CBF in BD adolescents       31         31       31		. 29
adolescents       30         Figure 4. Regions of higher CBF in euthymic adolescents with BD in contrast to BD       31         depressed adolescents       31         Figure 5. Regions of negative correlation between DRS and CBF in BD adolescents       31	Figure 3. Regions of higher CBF in BD euthymic adolescents in contrast to HC	
Figure 4. Regions of higher CBF in euthymic adolescents with BD in contrast to BD depressed adolescents	adolescents	30
depressed adolescents	Figure 4. Regions of higher CBF in euthymic adolescents with BD in contrast to BD	
Figure 5. Regions of negative correlation between DRS and CBF in BD adolescents	depressed adolescents	. 31
	Figure 5. Regions of negative correlation between DRS and CBF in BD adolescents	
		. 31

# List of tables

Table 1. Review of CBF studies in BD at rest	14
Table 2. Review of CBF studies in BD during tasks	15
Table 3. Demographic and clinical variables	25
Table 4. CBF values in regions of interest in BD and HC adolescents	27
Table 5. CBF values in regions of interest in BD across mood states and in HC a	dolescents
-	27

# List of abbreviations

ACC- Anterior Cingulate Cortex, ADHD- Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, ASL-Arterial Spin Labelling, BD- Bipolar Disorder, BD-I- Bipolar I Disorder; BD-II- Bipolar II Disorder; BD-NOS- Bipolar Disorder Not Otherwise Specified, BDNF- Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor, BMI- Body Mass Index, CBF- Cerebral Blood Flow, CD- Conduct Disorder, CGAS- Children's Global Assessment Scale, CVD- Cardiovascular Disease, DLPFC- Dorsolateral Prefrontal Cortex, DRS- Depression Rating Scale, FSL- FMRIB Software Library, GLM- General Linear Model, GM- Grey Matter, HC- Healthy Control, K-SADS-PL- Kiddie-Schedule for Affective Disorders and Schizophrenia- Present and Lifetime Version, MDD- Major Depressive Disorder, MRI- Magnetic Resonance Imaging, MRS- Mania Rating Scale, NO- Nitric Oxide, OFC- Orbitofrontal Cortex, PET- Positron Emission Tomography, ROI- Region of Interest, SD- Standard Deviation, SES- Socio Economic Status, SGA- Second-Generation Antipsychotic, SPECT- Single-Photon Emission Computerized Tomography, SSRI- Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitor, SUD-Substance Use Disorder, VLPFC- Ventrolateral Prefrontal Cortex, VMPFC- Ventromedial Prefrontal Cortex, WC- Waist Circumference.

# 1. Introduction

#### 1.1 Statement of problem

Bipolar disorder (BD) is a chronic episodic mood disorder characterised by the alternation of periods of mania or hypomania and depression, as well as periods of normal mood, called euthymia(American Psychiatric Association, 2013). BD is associated with significant functional impairment and is among the leading causes of disability worldwide(Whiteford et al., 2013)(Judd et al., 2005)(Simon et al., 2007). Onset of BD prior to adulthood is common, and studies have found increased symptomatic burden and disease severity in both clinical and epidemiological samples with earlier onset(Perlis et al., 2009)(Post et al., 2010)(Goldstein and Levitt, 2006). The prevalence of BD in large studies has been found to be around 2-5 %, both in adults and adolescents(Judd and Akiskal, 2003)(Kessler et al., 2005)(Lewinsohn et al., 1995)(Merikangas et al., 2009)(Merikangas et al., 2010). The longitudinal course of BD is characterized by a greater time spent in depression than mania or hypomania, both in adults and adolescents(Judd et al., 2003)(Birmaher et al., 2009)(Kupka et al., 2007). BD depression is associated with suicidality, and treatment resistance is common(Frye et al., 2014)(Valtonen et al., 2008)(Hawton et al., 2005)(Post et al., 2003). Furthermore, although cognitive deficits in BD persist during euthymia, several studies found worst cognitive performance during depressive episodes(Kurtz and Gerraty, 2009)(Malhi et al., 2007). In addition, several studies have found that BD is associated with cardiovascular disease earlier than in the general population (Goldstein, 2017; Goldstein et al., 2015a; Swartz and Fagiolini, 2012).

The diagnosis of BD remains clinical and overall there have been few new treatments or treatment targets in the past few years. The present treatments for BD depression, which represents the main burden of BD and longitudinal course(Judd et al., 2003), are suboptimal and there is frequent treatment resistance(Bauer et al., 2018). New treatments for BD require the understanding of the biological underpinning of mood states in BD. Neuroimaging can assist in investigating both the state and trait abnormalities of brain functioning in BD. As BD has a frequent onset during adolescence and early adulthood, investigation in those populations may assist with understanding the early stages of illness and contributory factors without the confounding effects of long illness duration or longstanding medication impact. Questions arise as to the putative involvement of vascular factors in BD pathophysiology at the neurofunctional level given the known relationship between BD and cardiovascular disease, and as to the best method of assessing vascular function in BD and linking neurovascular changes and BD disease course. Although the exact pathophysiology of BD is unknown, recent models of BD, informed by structural and functional imaging studies, evoke disruptions in prefrontal-subcortical circuits (Strakowski et al., 2012). Measure of cerebral blood flow (CBF) may be a useful additional functional neuroimaging measure in BD, directly capturing perfusion (synonymous with CBF) at a regional level, with opportunities for quantification. A recent review has identified reproduced abnormalities in terms of CBF in adults with BD, particularly during mood episodes, although sample sizes for each study are small and little is known about CBF in youth with BD.

1.2 Review of literature

1.2.1 Bipolar disorder in adolescents

BD is a severe episodic mood disorder characterised by episodes of mania, hypomania and depression as well as periods of euthymia, or normal mood(American Psychiatric Association, 2013). A major depressive episode is defined as a period of over two weeks of persistent low mood, anhedonia or loss of pleasure in activities previously enjoyed with associated symptoms such as negative thoughts, changes in terms of energy level, appetite and sleep as well as possible suicidal ideation or psychosis. Periods of mania or hypomania are defined as episodes of over four (or days days) of elated mood, decreased need for sleep, increased energy, increased activity and productivity, increased speech and thought rate and impulsivity with possible involvement in activities with high risk for negative consequences. Onset of BD is frequently during adolescence and young adulthood and up to half of patients with BD experience their first mood episode in childhood or adolescence(Perlis et al., 2004). Early onset is associated with greater overall symptom severity and recurrence, higher rates of comorbidity, more hospitalization and more suicide attempts(Post et al., 2010)(Goldstein and Levitt, 2006) (Perlis et al., 2009). In a longitudinal study, adolescents with BD were found to be asymptomatic for 41% of weeks, to have major depressive episodes for 6% of the follow up time, and hypomania or mania 2.7% of time(Birmaher et al., 2009). Youth were found to have subsyndromal mood symptoms for 42% of the follow up time(Birmaher et al., 2009).

# 1.2.2 Bipolar disorder and cardiovascular burden

There is a known link between BD and cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk, with excessive and premature morbidity and mortality (Goldstein, 2017; Goldstein et al., 2015a; Swartz and Fagiolini, 2012). CVD and its complications are the leading cause of mortality in BD, and the most common medical conditions in BD (Kilbourne et al., 2004; Westman et

al., 2013). In comparison to healthy controls (HC) individuals with BD have an adjusted CVD mortality rate ratio of 1.5-2.5 and CVD mortality 10 years earlier than in the general population (Weeke et al., 1987; Westman et al., 2013). In addition, the age of onset of new CVD was found to be up to 17 years premature in BD (Goldstein et al., 2015b). Metabolic syndrome and its components of obesity, hypertension, high cholesterol levels and type II diabetes are also elevated in those with BD (Cardenas et al., 2008; Fiedorowicz, 2008; Johannessen et al., 2006). This association between CVD and BD is in excess of what can be explained by psychotropic medication, lifestyle behaviors and even traditional CVD risk factors (Benjamin I. Goldstein et al., 2009; Goldstein et al., 2015a, 2015b; Kraepelin, 1921; Tsuang et al., 1980). Furthermore, the association between BD and CVD is thought to be impacted by longitudinal mood symptomatic burden (Fiedorowicz et al., 2009)(Fiedorowicz et al., 2014)(Fiedorowicz et al., 2012). Specifically, one prospective study found that the burden of mania or hypomania predicted cardiovascular mortality (Fiedorowicz et al., 2009) and another study found that duration of severe depressive episode was predictive of vascular mortality(Fiedorowicz et al., 2012).

#### 1.2.3 Neuroimaging models of bipolar disorder

Contemporary neuroimaging models of BD describe functional and structural differences in circuits implicated in emotion processing and emotional regulation, as well as abnormalities in neural circuitry related to reward processing (Phillips and Swartz, 2014). Anomalous connectivity between ventral prefrontal networks and limbic structures, especially the amygdala, is hypothesized to be at the center of a disruption causing structural and functional reorganization, and BD symptom emergence(Strakowski et al., 2012). Strakowski and colleagues describe two main prefrontal networks connected with

the amygdala and ventral striatum: (1) a ventromedial loop involved in internally referenced emotions which includes the ventromedial prefrontal cortex/orbitofrontal cortex (VMPFC/OFC) and subgenual anterior cingulate cortex (sgCC), as well as (2) a ventrolateral circuit implicated in the appraisal of external emotional stimuli which involves the ventrolateral prefrontal cortex (VLPFC) and rostral anterior cingulate cortex (ACC)(Strakowski et al., 2012). Recently, replicated findings have emerged regarding reduced cortical thickness in adults with BD, particularly in the left anterior cingulate, paracingulate, left superior temporal regions, dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC), VLPFC and OFC(Hanford et al., 2016). Although amygdala volume reduction has been consistently replicated in youth with BD(Pfeifer et al., 2008)(DelBello et al., 2004)(Hilary P Blumberg et al., 2003)(Kelley et al., 2013), neurostructural findings regarding prefrontal and temporal cortical abnormalities have been less consistent(Jean A. Frazier et al., 2005)(Wilke et al., 2004)(Dickstein et al., 2005)(Hajek et al., 2008)(Kaur et al., 2005).

#### 1.2.4 Cerebral blood flow

CBF is commonly defined as the volume of blood delivered to the brain tissue per minute, and is a core metric of brain health(Peterson et al., 2011)(Fantini et al., 2016). As the brain has high energy demands alongside limited energy reserves, cerebrovascular circulation must supply the metabolically active regions with glucose and oxygen, adapt to changes in systemic blood pressure, and ensure homeostasis via brain temperature regulation and disposal of toxic metabolites(Iadecola, 2017; Paulson et al., 2009). CBF is proportional to brain activity, and there is normally a coupling between metabolically active regions and CBF(Hoge et al., 1999; Leenders et al., 1990). There are two main hypotheses regarding the coupling of CBF with brain activation: a "feedback" hypothesis stipulating

that hypoxia would engender increased blood flow via carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>), lactate and adenosine and a "feed forward" hypothesis in which the increased blood flow would be triggered by synaptic activity via release of nitric oxide (NO) or prostanoids(Iadecola, 2017). However, in abnormal disease states such as hypertension, cerebral microvascular disease, or Alzheimer's disease, a decoupling is observed(Girouard, 2006; Østergaard et al., 2013). Neurovascular decoupling can reduce the necessary functional hyperemia which would lead to hypoxia and possibly ischemic damage(Girouard, 2006). Lower CBF is also associated with a higher cardiometabolic risk profile, and with white matter hyperintensities, possibly predating the onset of these lesions(Brickman et al., 2009; Jennings et al., 2013; Shi et al., 2016). Both absolute CBF and CBF regulation in response to stimuli have been found to decrease with age and vascular pathology especially in regions associated with neurocognitive impairment(Leoni et al., 2017; Shaw et al., 1984). CBF abnormalities have been previously described in patients with Major Depressive Disorder (MDD) and Schizophrenia(Liddle et al., 1992; Liu et al., 2016; Videbech, 2000).

CBF can be measured using different methods. Single-photon emission computerized tomography (SPECT) is a functional nuclear tomographic imaging technique in which a gamma-ray emitting radiotracer is injected, allowing for an assessment of threedimensional distribution of the radiotracer, reflecting CBF(Juni et al., 2009). SPECT is more widely available and less costly than other methods, but only provides relative, not absolute, measure of CBF with spatial resolution limitations(Wintermark et al., 2005). Positron emission tomography (PET) is a functional nuclear imaging technique detecting gamma-rays using substances of interest labeled with positron emitting radioisotopes, followed by a scan and an anatomical correlation with CT or MRI(Raichle et al., 1983).

PET allows for quantitative measurement of CBF and repeated measures, and allows for the study of multiple parameters including glucose uptake by using different substances of interest labelled with radiotracers (Wintermark et al., 2005). Furthermore, <sup>15</sup>O-water PET is considered the gold standard for quantitative measurement of CBF(Herscovitch et al., 1983). However, both PET and SPECT are associated with exposure to radiation and require availability of radiotracers(Wintermark et al., 2005). The exposure to radiation renders these techniques restricts the use of these techniques in children and adolescents. Finally, dynamic susceptibility contrast from an intravenous contrast agent and arterial spin labeling (ASL) are examples of MRI methods. ASL has the advantage of being a completely non-invasive MRI method using magnetically labeled water as an endogenous tracer to measure absolute CBF(Borogovac and Asllani, 2012; Detre et al., 2009; Liu and Brown, 2007). ASL is quantitative, amenable to intra- or inter-session repeated acquisitions and is available on clinical MRI scanners. There is good concordance between <sup>15</sup>O-water PET and ASL measures of CBF(Zhang et al., 2014). Disadvantages include the requirement for a high signal to noise ratio, possible inaccuracy of measurement in context of particularly high or low CBF, and contraindications to MRI (Wintermark et al., 2005).

1.4.5 A review of cerebral blood flow in bipolar disorder

A review of the literature on CBF in BD identified a total of 33 studies with 508 participants with BD, and 538 controls. Studies are presented below and in Tables 1 and 2.

# Cerebral blood flow in bipolar disorder in comparison to healthy controls at rest

19 studies compared BD to HC subjects at rest, of which ten compared subjects with BD depression to HC (see Table 1).

Bipolar depression in comparison to healthy controls: Six studies totaling 88 BD subjects and 155 HC found reduced CBF in the BD-depression group in comparison to HC. Regions include the anterior temporal cortex and left parietal cortex (Bhardwaj et al., 2010), left superior temporal, right parietal and bilateral occipital(Bonne et al., 1996), bilateral anterior superior and middle frontal gyri, right anterior cingulate cortex (ACC), left anterior superior temporal gyrus, left angular gyrus, left lingual gyrus and bilateral anterior insular cortex(Ito et al., 1996), left dentate nuclei of the cerebellum(Zhao et al., 2016) and the subgenual prefrontal cortex(Drevets et al., 1997). One study found a lower global CBF in BD vs HC(Dunn et al., 2005). Conversely, one study reported increased resting CBF in 22 BD-depression subjects in comparison to 19 HC in the left precentral gyrus, left precuneus, left inferior parietal lobe, left posterior cingulate, right lingual gyrus and right middle temporal gyrus(Cantisani et al., 2016). Four studies did not find differences between a total of 61 BD subjects in depression and 75 HC(Cantisani et al., 2016; Ebert et al., 1993; Tutus et al., 1998; Zhao et al., 2017). However one study among these found a lower CBF ratio of the left to right hemispheres in BD subjects than in HC(Delvenne et al., 1990).

*Bipolar mania in comparison to healthy controls:* Three studies totaling 26 subjects with mania and 38 HC found decreased CBF in BD subjects in the left frontal, left parietal and left ACC(Bhardwaj et al., 2010), in the right temporal lobe(Migliorelli et al., 1993), and in anterior cortical regions, as well as a reduction of the normal anterioposterior gradient in BD subjects(Rubin et al., 1995). Increased severity of psychotic symptoms was associated with reduced CBF in subjects with mania(Bhardwaj et al., 2010).One study did not find differences in CBF between 30 subjects with BD-mania and 30 HC(Silfverskiöld and Risberg, 1989).

*Bipolar euthymia in comparison to healthy controls:* One study found lower CBF in multiple regions including temporal, occipital, medial frontal and cingulate regions in euthymic adults with BD (n=16) in comparison to controls (n=10), especially in the cingulate gyrus(Culha et al., 2008). Another study did not find differences between 8 euthymic BD subjects and 20 HC(Uytdenhoef et al., 1983).

*Bipolar disorder in various mood states in comparison to healthy controls:* One study found increased left frontal and temporal cerebral blood volume in 14 BD subjects in various mood states in comparison to 29 HC. Furthermore, whereas in normal subjects left frontal CBF was greater than right side CBF, the opposite was found in BD subjects(Agarwal et al., 2008). A second study found lower cerebellar blood volume in a group of 10 BD subjects in various mood states, in comparison to 10 HC(Loeber et al., 1999). A third study did not find differences in terms of CBF between 21 BD subjects in various mood states vs 20 HC found increased CBF in medial frontal and middle cingulate regions in adolescents with BD compared to controls(MacIntosh et al., 2017).

#### Cerebral blood flow in relation to cognitive and emotional tasks

Table 2 presents the results of 14 studies examining CBF in BD during various cognitive and emotional tasks, or in relation to specific variables such as treatment discontinuation or exercise.

*Cognitive tasks:* One study used a memory task to compare 22 BD subjects in various mood states with 24 HC and found lower CBF in BD relative to HC(Wood and Flowers, 1990). A second study examining a reaction time task, comparing 13 euthymic BD subjects with 14

HC, found that the task elicited increased CBF in different areas: prefrontal and limbic in BD, parietal and premotor in HC(Berns et al., 2002). A third verbal learning task study comparing eight euthymic BD subjects with eight HC found blunted task-related CBF response in BD in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC)(Deckersbach et al., 2006). In a Stroop-type task, no difference in terms of CBF was found between 28 euthymic BD subjects and 36 HC. A study comparing six euthymic BD subjects with 10 HC and 10 subjects with schizophrenia in a verbal fluency task paradigm did not find differences between groups(Dye et al., 1999). A gambling-type task study of six BD-mania subjects, six MDD subjects and 10 HC, found task-related increased CBF in the mania group in dorsal ACC, and task related decreased CBF in left frontal pole in mania(Rubinsztein et al., 2001). A study of 30 BD subjects found a correlation between low resting frontal CBF. Another study of 27 BD subjects found increased CBF in the left inferior frontal gyrus after a four-week cognitive training program(Venza et al., 2016). Four of the aforementioned studies report on correlations between CBF and cognitive performance, noting that lower CBF was associated with poorer performance on measured tasks of memory(Wood and Flowers, 1990)(Benabarre et al., 2005), verbal learning (Benabarre et al., 2005), response inhibition(Dev et al., 2015), and complex abstraction(Venza et al., 2016). In contrast, poor psychomotor performance was related to higher anterior temporal CBF and worse performance in a Stroop-type task was associated with higher CBF in striatal and temporal regions(Benabarre et al., 2005).

*Emotional tasks:* A study comparing 11 depressed BD subjects with nine euthymic BD subjects found differential CBF changes in the context of a sad-mood provocation task. Euthymic subjects had a unique increase in CBF in dorsal ACC and premotor cortex and

decrease in CBF in the orbitofrontal cortex. Depressed subjects had a decrease in CBF in lateral prefrontal regions with sad mood provocation. There was a greater magnitude of decrease in CBF in dorsal ventral medial frontal regions between baseline and mood induction in euthymic group vs depressed group(Krüger et al., 2003). Another study using this induced transient sadness paradigm in nine euthymic BD subjects who were found to be lithium responsive, nine euthymic BD valproate responders and nine healthy siblings. This study found a unique decreased CBF in medial frontal cortex with mood induction in the BD groups, while an increase in CBF was found in healthy siblings(Krüger et al., 2006).

#### **CBF** in relation to other variables

A study looking at 14 BD subjects pre- and post-eight weeks of lithium discontinuation found increased CBF in the posterior region of the left mid/inferior temporal cortex as well as decreased CBF in the left ACC (Goodwin et al., 1997). A study performing serial scans in 12 BD subjects in various mood states found an asymmetric CBF pattern (right greater than left) in anterior parts of the temporal lobe in BD subjects in depression and mania, but not during euthymia(Gyulai et al., 1997). In the only study looking at the impact of exercise on CBF, elevated CBF in medial frontal and middle cingulate regions in 31 adolescents with BD compared to 20 healthy controls was temporarily abolished after a bout of aerobic exercise(MacIntosh et al., 2017).

#### Cerebral blood flow in bipolar disorder in comparison to major depressive disorder

Eight studies with a total of 113 subjects with MDD and 107 BD subjects in a depressive episode, did not find significant differences between CBF patterns in MDD and in BD depression(Bonne et al., 1996; Delvenne et al., 1990; Drevets, 1997; Dunn et al., 2005; Ito et al., 1996; Wood and Flowers, 1990; Zhao et al., 2017, 2016). In contrast, a

CBF study using pattern recognition analysis of ACC among women (n=18 BD depression, n=18 MDD depression, n=18 controls) differentiated BD depression from unipolar depression with 81% accuracy(Almeida et al., 2013). Comparing 10 subjects with MDD with 20 BD in various mood states, and 10 HC, this study found different areas of lower CBF in BD and MDD in comparison to HC, mainly in left fronto-temporal regions in BD and in bilateral anterior temporal and frontal regions in MDD(Bhardwaj et al., 2010). While an increase in CBF was found in 22 BD subjects currently depressed in left prefrontal regions, this was not found in 20 subjects with MDD and 19 HC(Cantisani et al., 2016). CBF differences between six subjects with mania and 10 HC in a decision making task were not found between MDD and HC(Rubinsztein et al., 2001). Two studies totaling 15 BD in various mood states, 26 sujects with MDD and 29 HC found left frontal increased CBF in MDD in comparison to the other groups(Tutus et al., 1998; Uytdenhoef et al., 1983).

In summary, the most consistent finding in the current literature on CBF in BD is reduced CBF in adults with BD depression, mostly in frontal, temporal and parietal regions. There are also findings of abnormal CBF response to cognitive or emotional tasks, mainly of decreased reactivity in contrast to HC. Studies also report on correlation between higher CBF in frontal and parietal regions and greater cognitive performance. There are limited CBF differences between BD depression and MDD. Of note, there have also been contradictory findings in terms of CBF in BD in contrast to HC. Few studies found an increase in CBF in frontal and temporal regions in BD depression or in a group of BD subjects in different mood states in contrast to HC. Only one study had previously examined CBF in BD adolescents, and found elevated CBF in BD in frontal and cingulate

regions. Overall these findings suggest that CBF is affected in BD adults, and specifically in regards to mood episodes and particularly depression. Limitations in terms of the available literature on CBF in BD include small sample size for each study, use of different imaging methods and various paradigms for studies examining the CBF response to stimuli. This limits comparisons between studies. Importantly, there is also a scarcity of studies in youth, in participants at different stages of illness, and that examine CBF repeatedly over time and/or across different mood states .

Bipolar depression	↓ Anterior temporal cortex and left parietal cortex (n=10 BD; n=20 HC)(Bhardwaj						
	et al., 2010)						
n=131 BD	$\downarrow$ Left superior temporal, right parietal and bilateral occipital (n=9 BD; n=21						
n=207 HC	HC)(Bonne et al., 1996)						
	↓ Bilateral anterior superior and middle frontal gyri, right ACC, left anterior						
	superior temporal gyrus, left angular gyrus, left lingual gyrus and bilateral anterior						
	insular cortex (n=6 BD; n=9 HC)(Ito et al., 1996)						
	↓ Left dentate nuclei of the cerebellum (n=35 BD; n=45 HC)(Zhao et al., 2016)						
	$\downarrow$ Subgenual prefrontal cortex (n=19 BD; n=51 HC)(Drevets et al., 1997)						
	$\downarrow$ Global (n=9 BD; n=9 HC)(Dunn et al., 2005)						
	$\leftrightarrow$ and relative left to right decreased CBF (n=8 BD; n=16 HC)(Delvenne et al.,						
	1990)						
	$\uparrow$ Left precentral gyrus, left precuneus, left inferior parietal lobe, left posterior						
	cingulate, right lingual gyrus and right middle temporal gyrus (n=22 BD; n=19						
	HC)(Cantisani et al., 2016)						
	$\leftrightarrow$ (n=6 BD; n=8 HC)(Ebert et al., 1993)						
	$\leftrightarrow$ (n=7 BD; n=9 HC)(Tutus et al., 1998)						
	$\leftrightarrow$ (n=45 BD; n=40 HC)(Zhao et al., 2017)						
Mania	↓ Left frontal, left parietal and left ACC (n=10 BD; n=20 HC)(Bhardwaj et al.,						
	2010)						
n=46 BD	↓ Right temporal (n=5 BD; n=7 HC)(Migliorelli et al., 1993)						
n=68 HC	Anterior cortical regions, and reduction of the normal anteroposterior gradient in						
	BD subjects (n=11 BD; n=11 HC)(Rubin et al., 1995)						
	↔ (n=30 BD; n=30 HC)(Silfverskiöld and Risberg, 1989)						
Euthymia	↓ Widespread, especially in the cingulate gyrus (n=16 BD; n=10 HC)(Culha et al.,						
n=24 BD	2008)						

Table 1. Review of cerebral blood flow studies in bipolar disorder at rest

n=30 HC	$\leftrightarrow$ (n=8 BD; n=20 HC)(Uytdenhoef et al., 1983)
Various mood states	↓ Cerebellar blood volume (n=10 BD; n=10 HC)(Loeber et al., 1999)
n=76 BD n=80 HC	↑ Left frontal and temporal, inverse laterality index in frontal cortex (n=14 BD; n=29 HC)(Agarwal et al., 2008)
	↑ Medial frontal and middle cingulate (adolescents) (n=31 BD; n=20 HC)(MacIntosh et al., 2017)
	$\leftrightarrow (n=21 \text{ BD}; n=21 \text{ HC})(\text{Varga et al., 2009})$

Table 2. Review of cerebral blood flow studies in bipolar disorder during tasks

Cognitive	•Memory task: $\downarrow$ (n=22 BD; n=24 HC)(Wood and Flowers, 1990)
Tasks	•Serial reaction time task: different regions of increased CBF: prefrontal and
	limbic in BD; parietal and pre-motor in HC (n=13 BD; n=14 HC)(Berns et al.,
n=140 BD	2002)
n=102 HC	•Verbal learning task: $\downarrow$ DLPFC (n=8 BD; n=8 HC)(Deckersbach et al., 2006)
	•Color-word inhibition task: $\leftrightarrow$ and better performance in BD if higher resting
	CBF in ACC, inferior parietal lobule and DLPFC (n=28 BD; n=36 HC)(Dev et
	al., 2015)
	•Verbal fluency task: $\leftrightarrow$ (n=6 BD; n=10 HC)(Dye et al., 1999)
	•Decision making task: $\uparrow$ dorsal ACC and $\downarrow$ left frontal pole (n=6 BD-mania;
	n=10 HC)(Rubinsztein et al., 2001)
	•Baseline CBF and subsequent cognitive performance correlation between
	poorer performance on memory and verbal learning and low frontal CBF, poor
	psychomotor performance related to greater anterior temporal CBF (n=30 BD;
	no HC)(Benabarre et al., 2005)
	•Before and after 4-week cognitive training: increased CBF in left inferior
	opercular frontal gyrus (n=27 BD; no HC)(Venza et al., 2016)
Emotional	Sad mood provocation:
Emotional Tasks	Sad mood provocation: •Decreased CBF medial frontal cortex (n=18 BD; n=9 HC)(Krüger et al., 2006)
Emotional Tasks n=38 BD	Sad mood provocation: •Decreased CBF medial frontal cortex (n=18 BD; n=9 HC)(Krüger et al., 2006) •Differential response in function of mood state in BD: Euthymic (n=9)
Emotional Tasks n=38 BD n=9 HC	Sad mood provocation: •Decreased CBF medial frontal cortex (n=18 BD; n=9 HC)(Krüger et al., 2006) •Differential response in function of mood state in BD: Euthymic (n=9) increased dorsal ACC and premotor cortex, decreased CBF in OFC. Depressed
Emotional Tasks n=38 BD n=9 HC	Sad mood provocation: •Decreased CBF medial frontal cortex (n=18 BD; n=9 HC)(Krüger et al., 2006) •Differential response in function of mood state in BD: Euthymic (n=9) increased dorsal ACC and premotor cortex, decreased CBF in OFC. Depressed (n=11) decreased CBF in lateral prefrontal regions(Krüger et al., 2003)
Emotional Tasks n=38 BD n=9 HC Other	<ul> <li>Sad mood provocation:</li> <li>Decreased CBF medial frontal cortex (n=18 BD; n=9 HC)(Krüger et al., 2006)</li> <li>Differential response in function of mood state in BD: Euthymic (n=9) increased dorsal ACC and premotor cortex, decreased CBF in OFC. Depressed (n=11) decreased CBF in lateral prefrontal regions(Krüger et al., 2003)</li> <li>Post lithium discontinuation: increased CBF posterior region of the left</li> </ul>
Emotional Tasks n=38 BD n=9 HC Other	<ul> <li>Sad mood provocation:</li> <li>Decreased CBF medial frontal cortex (n=18 BD; n=9 HC)(Krüger et al., 2006)</li> <li>Differential response in function of mood state in BD: Euthymic (n=9) increased dorsal ACC and premotor cortex, decreased CBF in OFC. Depressed (n=11) decreased CBF in lateral prefrontal regions(Krüger et al., 2003)</li> <li>Post lithium discontinuation: increased CBF posterior region of the left mid/inferior temporal cortex, decreased CBF left ACC (n=14 BD; no</li> </ul>
Emotional Tasks n=38 BD n=9 HC Other	<ul> <li>Sad mood provocation:         <ul> <li>Decreased CBF medial frontal cortex (n=18 BD; n=9 HC)(Krüger et al., 2006)</li> <li>Differential response in function of mood state in BD: Euthymic (n=9) increased dorsal ACC and premotor cortex, decreased CBF in OFC. Depressed (n=11) decreased CBF in lateral prefrontal regions(Krüger et al., 2003)</li> </ul> </li> <li>Post lithium discontinuation: increased CBF posterior region of the left mid/inferior temporal cortex, decreased CBF left ACC (n=14 BD; no HC)(Goodwin et al., 1997)</li> </ul>
Emotional Tasks n=38 BD n=9 HC Other	<ul> <li>Sad mood provocation:         <ul> <li>Decreased CBF medial frontal cortex (n=18 BD; n=9 HC)(Krüger et al., 2006)</li> <li>Differential response in function of mood state in BD: Euthymic (n=9)</li> <li>increased dorsal ACC and premotor cortex, decreased CBF in OFC. Depressed (n=11) decreased CBF in lateral prefrontal regions(Krüger et al., 2003)</li> </ul> </li> <li>Post lithium discontinuation: increased CBF posterior region of the left mid/inferior temporal cortex, decreased CBF left ACC (n=14 BD; no HC)(Goodwin et al., 1997)</li> <li>Serial scans (longitudinal) asymmetric pattern in anterior parts of the temporal</li> </ul>
Emotional Tasks n=38 BD n=9 HC Other	<ul> <li>Sad mood provocation:         <ul> <li>Decreased CBF medial frontal cortex (n=18 BD; n=9 HC)(Krüger et al., 2006)</li> <li>Differential response in function of mood state in BD: Euthymic (n=9)</li> <li>increased dorsal ACC and premotor cortex, decreased CBF in OFC. Depressed (n=11) decreased CBF in lateral prefrontal regions(Krüger et al., 2003)</li> </ul> </li> <li>Post lithium discontinuation: increased CBF posterior region of the left mid/inferior temporal cortex, decreased CBF left ACC (n=14 BD; no HC)(Goodwin et al., 1997)</li> <li>Serial scans (longitudinal) asymmetric pattern in anterior parts of the temporal lobe in BD depression and mania, but not during euthymia (n=12 BD; no</li> </ul>
Emotional Tasks n=38 BD n=9 HC Other	<ul> <li>Sad mood provocation:</li> <li>Decreased CBF medial frontal cortex (n=18 BD; n=9 HC)(Krüger et al., 2006)</li> <li>Differential response in function of mood state in BD: Euthymic (n=9) increased dorsal ACC and premotor cortex, decreased CBF in OFC. Depressed (n=11) decreased CBF in lateral prefrontal regions(Krüger et al., 2003)</li> <li>Post lithium discontinuation: increased CBF posterior region of the left mid/inferior temporal cortex, decreased CBF left ACC (n=14 BD; no HC)(Goodwin et al., 1997)</li> <li>Serial scans (longitudinal) asymmetric pattern in anterior parts of the temporal lobe in BD depression and mania, but not during euthymia (n=12 BD; no HC)(Gyulai et al., 1997)</li> </ul>
Emotional Tasks n=38 BD n=9 HC Other	<ul> <li>Sad mood provocation:</li> <li>Decreased CBF medial frontal cortex (n=18 BD; n=9 HC)(Krüger et al., 2006)</li> <li>Differential response in function of mood state in BD: Euthymic (n=9) increased dorsal ACC and premotor cortex, decreased CBF in OFC. Depressed (n=11) decreased CBF in lateral prefrontal regions(Krüger et al., 2003)</li> <li>Post lithium discontinuation: increased CBF posterior region of the left mid/inferior temporal cortex, decreased CBF left ACC (n=14 BD; no HC)(Goodwin et al., 1997)</li> <li>Serial scans (longitudinal) asymmetric pattern in anterior parts of the temporal lobe in BD depression and mania, but not during euthymia (n=12 BD; no HC)(Gyulai et al., 1997)</li> <li>Pattern recognition ACC blood flow: differentiated unipolar vs bipolar</li> </ul>
Emotional Tasks n=38 BD n=9 HC Other	<ul> <li>Sad mood provocation:</li> <li>Decreased CBF medial frontal cortex (n=18 BD; n=9 HC)(Krüger et al., 2006)</li> <li>Differential response in function of mood state in BD: Euthymic (n=9) increased dorsal ACC and premotor cortex, decreased CBF in OFC. Depressed (n=11) decreased CBF in lateral prefrontal regions(Krüger et al., 2003)</li> <li>Post lithium discontinuation: increased CBF posterior region of the left mid/inferior temporal cortex, decreased CBF left ACC (n=14 BD; no HC)(Goodwin et al., 1997)</li> <li>Serial scans (longitudinal) asymmetric pattern in anterior parts of the temporal lobe in BD depression and mania, but not during euthymia (n=12 BD; no HC)(Gyulai et al., 1997)</li> <li>Pattern recognition ACC blood flow: differentiated unipolar vs bipolar depression with 81% accuracy (n=18 BD; n=18 MDD; n=18 HC)(Almeida et al., 19</li> </ul>
Emotional Tasks n=38 BD n=9 HC Other	<ul> <li>Sad mood provocation:</li> <li>Decreased CBF medial frontal cortex (n=18 BD; n=9 HC)(Krüger et al., 2006)</li> <li>Differential response in function of mood state in BD: Euthymic (n=9) increased dorsal ACC and premotor cortex, decreased CBF in OFC. Depressed (n=11) decreased CBF in lateral prefrontal regions(Krüger et al., 2003)</li> <li>Post lithium discontinuation: increased CBF posterior region of the left mid/inferior temporal cortex, decreased CBF left ACC (n=14 BD; no HC)(Goodwin et al., 1997)</li> <li>Serial scans (longitudinal) asymmetric pattern in anterior parts of the temporal lobe in BD depression and mania, but not during euthymia (n=12 BD; no HC)(Gyulai et al., 1997)</li> <li>Pattern recognition ACC blood flow: differentiated unipolar vs bipolar depression with 81% accuracy (n=18 BD; n=18 MDD; n=18 HC)(Almeida et al., 2013)</li> </ul>
Emotional Tasks n=38 BD n=9 HC Other	<ul> <li>Sad mood provocation:</li> <li>Decreased CBF medial frontal cortex (n=18 BD; n=9 HC)(Krüger et al., 2006)</li> <li>Differential response in function of mood state in BD: Euthymic (n=9) increased dorsal ACC and premotor cortex, decreased CBF in OFC. Depressed (n=11) decreased CBF in lateral prefrontal regions(Krüger et al., 2003)</li> <li>Post lithium discontinuation: increased CBF posterior region of the left mid/inferior temporal cortex, decreased CBF left ACC (n=14 BD; no HC)(Goodwin et al., 1997)</li> <li>Serial scans (longitudinal) asymmetric pattern in anterior parts of the temporal lobe in BD depression and mania, but not during euthymia (n=12 BD; no HC)(Gyulai et al., 1997)</li> <li>Pattern recognition ACC blood flow: differentiated unipolar vs bipolar depression with 81% accuracy (n=18 BD; n=18 MDD; n=18 HC)(Almeida et al., 2013)</li> </ul>

• **Exercise**:  $\uparrow$  CBF in medial frontal and middle cingulate regions in adolescents with BD vs HC temporarily abolished after a bout of aerobic exercise (n=31 BD; n=20 HC)(MacIntosh et al., 2017)

# 1.3 Purpose of study and objectives

The purpose of this study was to examine differences in CBF across mood states in a relatively large sample of BD adolescents and HC. We compared CBF in euthymic, hypomanic/mixed and depressed BD subjects and HC at rest, using arterial spin labelling (ASL) magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). In the primary analysis, we examined CBF across the four groups in *a priori* regions of interest (ROI) based on previous literature on CBF and BD and on the neurofunctional model of BD(Strakowski et al., 2012): anterior cingulate cortex (ACC), middle frontal gyrus and amygdala. We have also included a mean measure of global gray matter (GM) CBF. We also performed a whole-brain vertex wise analysis. In addition, we examined the link between mania and depression severity scores and CBF in BD, both using an ROI and whole brain approach.

The objectives and hypotheses of this study were as follows:

*Objective 1.* Identify regional differences in CBF between HC adolescents and BD adolescents presently depressed, hypomanic/mixed and euthymic in *a priori* regions of interest (ROI) and in whole brain vertex-wise analyses.

H1. There will be group differences in CBF in the ACC, MFG and amygdala. *Post hoc* contrasts will demonstrate that CBF is lower in the BD depressed group than in the BD hypomanic/mixed, BD euthymic, and HC groups.

*Objective 2.* Identify brain regions of correlation between CBF and mania and depression scores using a region of interest and whole brain approach.

H2.1 Controlling for age and sex, lower CBF in the ACC and frontal regions will be associated with higher depression scores in the BD participants.

H2.2 Controlling for age and sex, higher mania scores will be associated with increased CBF in the amygdala.

Given limited prior studies on this topic, an exploratory whole brain analysis was also performed to complement the ROI approach. Other regions may be found to differ between the groups.

Our hypothesis of lower CBF in the BD depressed group is based on adult CBF studies which have identified lower CBF in BD participants during mania or depression in comparison to HC in frontal and temporal regions, although some studies did not find such differences(Bhardwaj et al., 2010; Bonne et al., 1996; Drevets et al., 1997; Ebert et al., 1993; Ito et al., 1996; Migliorelli et al., 1993; Silfverskiöld and Risberg, 1989; Tutus et al., 1998). However, it is thought that there may be differences between adolescents and adults based on prior studies of CBF and development in healthy populations(Satterthwaite et al., 2014), which may impact our findings and their comparison with adult findings. In contrast, only one study has examined CBF in BD adolescents using a subsample of the current sample, and found increased CBF in medial frontal and middle cingulate regions in 31 adolescents with BD compared to 20 HC; and no significant associations between CBF and

mood symptom, the study was not powered to evaluate for such associations(MacIntosh et al., 2017).

#### 2 Materials and methods

# 2.1 Study design

This study assessed CBF in BD subjects across mood states and in HC using a cross-sectional design for practical purposes. All participants, as well as one parent or guardian, provided written informed consent prior to study participation. The study was approved by the Research Ethics Board at Sunnybrook Health Sciences Center and in accordance with the ethical principles of research as per the Declaration of Helsinski.

# 2.2 Participant selection

#### 2.2.1 Participant recruitment

We recruited English-speaking adolescents between the ages of 13-20 years from the greater Toronto area. BD participants were recruited through the Center for Youth Bipolar Disorder, a subspecialized clinic and research center at Sunnybrook Health Sciences Center in Toronto. In addition, HC were recruited from the community through advertising in placed in the hospital, in public transit and in local community centers. Interested HC participants underwent a phone screening with a research assistant, followed by in-person visits.

# 2.2.2 Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Participants were included if they were English-speaking and from ages 13-20 years old. BD participants were included if they met the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*, 4th ed. (DSM-IV) criteria for BD-I or BD-II(American Psychiatric

Association, 1994), or for BD-NOS. BD-NOS was defined using criteria previously operationalized by the Course and Outcome of Bipolar Illness in Youth (COBY) study group(Axelson et al., 2006): Elevated and/or irritable mood, plus 1) two *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*, 4th ed. (DSM-IV)(American Psychiatric Association, 1994) manic symptoms (three if only irritable mood is reported), 2) change in functioning, 3) mood and symptom duration of at least 4 hours during a 24 hour period, and 4) at least four cumulative 24 hour periods of episodes over the participants' lifetime that meet the mood, symptom severity, and functional change criteria.

To be included as HCs, participants must have had no lifetime mood or psychotic disorders, no alcohol or drug dependence or anxiety disorders within 3 months, and no first- or second-degree family history of BD or psychotic disorders. Participants were excluded in the case of contraindication to MRI, cardiac condition, autoimmune disorder, inflammatory disorder, neurological or cognitive impairment or inability to provide consent.

2.3 Clinical and demographic characteristics

#### 2.2.1 Interview instruments employed

Psychiatric diagnoses were established using the Schedule for Affective Disorders and Schizophrenia for School Age Children, Present and Life Version (K-SADS-PL)(Kaufman J, Birmaher B, Brent D, Rao U, Flynn C, Moreci P, 1997), with expanded mood sections, the 13-item KSADS Depression Rating Scale (DRS)(Chambers et al., 1985) and the 13-item KSADS Mania Rating Scale (MRS)(Axelson et al., 2003), in place of the standard mood sections of the KSADS-PL. For DRS and MRS, information was obtained for the worst week in the past month (present) and the most severe past episode. The KSADS-PL is a semi-structured interview tool completed with the participant and a parent or guardian aimed to assess present and past psychiatric diagnoses in children and adolescents age 8-18. Its reliability and validity have previously been studied(Kaufman J, Birmaher B, Brent D, Rao U, Flynn C, Moreci P, 1997). Family history was determined using the Family History Screen interview (Weissman, 2000), and global functioning using the Children's Global Assessment Scale (CGAS)(Shaffer *et al.* 1983). The 4-factor Hollingshead Scale was used to ascertain socioeconomic status (SES)(Hollingshead, 1975). Current and past exposure to antidepressants, lithium and mood stabilizers, antipsychotics and stimulants was gathered using the Psychotropic Treatment Record from the Adolescent Longitudinal Interval Follow-Up Evaluation (ALIFE)(Keller et al., 1987).

Participants and their parents were interviewed and a consensus score was established. The interviewers involved in this study had completed a Bachelors or Master's degree in a Health Sciences-related field and had prior training on the KSADS. Consensus case conferences after the aforementioned measures were held and diagnosis was confirmed by a board-certified child and adolescent psychiatric from the clinic.

Anthropometric data was also obtained, namely height, weight and waist circumference. Height was measured with a stadiometer (Seca Inc; Chino, CA, USA), weight with a Body Mass Analysis Scale (Conair Consumer Products; Woodbridge, ON, Canada) and waist circumference with a measuring tape. BMI was calculated by dividing the weight in kilograms by the square of height in meters.

## 2.3.2 Diagnostic measures of mood and mood states

To define present mood, the depression rating scale (DRS) and mania rating scale (MRS) were used. The 13-item DRS has scores ranging from 0 to 67(Chambers et al., 1985). The total score of the DRS is obtained by adding the scores on 13 items: depressed

mood, irritable mood and anger, excessive guilt, anhedonia, fatigue, concentration difficulties, psychomotor agitation or retardation, insomnia, hypersomnia, increased or decreased appetite and suicidal ideation(Chambers et al., 1985). Each item is scored from 0 (no information) to 7 (very extreme), with a usual threshold score for significance of 4. The total score is obtained by adding the scores and subtracting 13. The 13-item MRS scores range from 0 to 65(Axelson et al., 2003). Items include elated and expansive mood, irritability and anger, decreased need for sleep, unusual energy level, increased activity level, grandiosity, pressured speech, racing thoughts, poor judgment, distractibility, hallucinations, delusions and mood lability(Axelson et al., 2003). Individual items are scored from 0 (no information) to 6 (extreme), with a clinical significance threshold for each individual symptom of 3 or 4 (moderate). The scoring is obtained by adding the individual scores on the 13 items, and subtracting 13.

Symptom threshold for depression and hypomania has been established as suggested and employed in previous studies (Axelson et al., 2003)(Metcalfe et al., 2016). Depression was defined as DRS  $\geq$ 13(Metcalfe et al., 2016), and hypomania was defined as MRS  $\geq$ 12(Axelson et al., 2003). Youth without current depression or hypomania (DRS <13 and MRS <12) were classified as euthymic BD, those with significant depressive symptoms and absence of hypomania as depressed (DRS  $\geq$ 13 and MRS <12), those with significant symptoms of mania without depression (MRS  $\geq$ 12 and DRS < 13) as hypomanic/manic and those with both significant depression and hypomania scores (MRS  $\geq$ 12 and DRS  $\geq$ 13) as mixed. The BD adolescents were then divided into three groups: hypomanic/mixed, depressed and euthymic. The decision to combine the hypomania and mixed groups was motivated by the lower number of adolescents in the pure hypomania group (n=6).

#### 2.4 Imaging

#### 2.4.1 Image acquisition

MRI was performed with a 3 T Philips Achieva system (Philips Medical Systems, Best, The Netherlands) using a radio frequency body coil transmission and an eight-channel head receiver coil for signal detection. The MRI protocol comprised the acquisition of T1weighted images for anatomical registration and repeated CBF measurements using pseudocontinuous ASL. First, to plan the ASL, phase contrast angiography scout images were acquired in order to help visualize arterial and venous anatomy. The ASL images were then obtained with single shot two-dimensional EPI (TR/TE=4000/9.7 ms,  $64 \times 64 \times 18$  matrix, spatial resolution  $3 \times 3 \times 5$  mm), 1650 ms labeling duration, post-label delay of 1600 ms for the most inferior slice, 30 control-tag pairs, scan duration of 248 sec. ASL reference images were acquired with a TR=10 s to determine the initial magnetization used for quantification (Alsop et al., 2014).

Anatomical T1-weighted images were acquired using high resolution fast-field echo imaging (repetition time (TR)/echo time (TE)/inversion time (TI)=9.5/2.3/1400 ms, field of view 240 mm × 191 mm, spatial resolution  $0.94 \times 1.17 \times 1.2$  mm, flip angle 8°,  $256 \times 164 \times$ 140 matrix, scan duration 536 sec).

## 2.4.2 ASL processing

Processing of ASL data was done using FMRIB Software Library (FSL), incorporating tools developed in the laboratory(Jenkinson et al., 2012)(MacIntosh et al., 2017). First, ASL data was co-registered to a reference volume. Next, difference images were produced from pairs of control (unlabeled) and tag (blood-labeled) images to provide a measure of CBF. Spatial smoothing of difference images was done using a 5 mm smoothing kernel. Difference images with large motion were removed to optimize CBF signal in grey matter (GM). The mean of the remaining images after motion correction was used to measure CBF signal(Shirzadi et al., 2015). CBF estimates were converted to absolute units (mL/100 g/min)(Alsop et al., 2015). For region of interest (ROI) analysis, standard space ROI were registered to participant ASL space, and average CBF signal within each ROI in individual participant's space was recorded.

#### 2.4.3 Anatomical image processing

T1-weighted images were processed using FSL tools as follows: brain extractions were performed using BET for removing non-brain tissue and skull stripping(Smith, 2002). Images were co-registered to ASL space and standard space (the latter was done using the Montreal Neurological Institute whole brain template, MNI152)), with FLIRT linear registration(Jenkinson and Smith, 2001)(Jenkinson et al., 2002). Intensity normalization and segmentation of subcortical grey and white matter from extracted brains were obtained using FAST(Y. Zhang, M. Brady, 2001).

#### 2.5 Defining regions of interest

Bilateral ROIs were selected based on regions previously found to be implicated in BD CBF studies(MacIntosh et al., 2017) (Ito et al., 1996) (Bhardwaj et al., 2010) (Drevets et al., 1997). Cortical ROIs included: ACC (anterior division of cingulate gyrus) and middle frontal gyrus (structural definition of the functional region dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC)). Subcortical ROI included the amygdala. In addition to the three ROI, we have also investigated global GM CBF. GM global signal was based on CBF values extracted from grey matter masks previously obtained from segmentation. Cortical and subcortical ROI were defined using parcellation from Harvard-Oxford Cortical Structural Atlas and Harvard-Oxford Subcortical Structural Atlas in FSL in 2mm standard space(Fischl et al., 2004). *FSLUTILS* commands were used to create the ROI(Fsl, 2006). Bilateral ROI masks were split using *fslinfo* and *fslmaths* commands. ROI masks were generated using *fslmaths* to add individual regions into a broader ROI. All ROI masks were thresholded at 0.25 in standard space using *fslmaths* commands.

# 2.6 Statistical analyses

Analyses were performed using SPSS, version 24 (IBM Corp., Armonk, N.Y., USA). Group comparisons of participants' demographic and clinical variables were assessed using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and chi-square tests, as appropriate with *post hoc* pairwise comparisons in the case of significant group differences. Measures of effect sizes are presented with partial eta squared  $(p\eta^2)$  for continuous variables and with Cramer's V for categorical variables.

In regards to our objective to evaluate between-group differences in CBF, we used analysis of covariance models (ANCOVA) with race as covariate for each ROI. Using Bonferroni correction, the statistical significance threshold was set at p=0.017. Omnibus tests comparing ROI CBF across the groups were followed by *post hoc* pairwise comparisons of CBF, using Tukey's test. With 129 participants the model was therefore powered at 0.80 to detect a medium-large effect size (Cohen's f=0.35), with 1 covariate and  $\alpha=0.017$ . Furthermore, our smallest cell size was of 19 participants, which restricted our power to 1 covariate.

To examine the correlation between CBF and mania and depression scores, a within-BD linear regression analysis was conducted, and included age and sex as mean-

centered covariates. Similarly, the statistical significance threshold was set at p=0.017 using Bonferroni correction. Based on a *post hoc* power calculation, the sample of 73 had 0.80 power to detect a medium effect size (Cohen's f=0.15), with 2 covariates and  $\alpha=0.017$ .

To inform covariate selection, we have examined the composition of our sample in terms of basic demographic variables as well as factors previously found in the literature to correlate with CBF. Race, which has previously been associated with CBF (Smith et al., 2019), was the only demographic variables that differed across groups (p=0.056) and was therefore included in the between-group analyses. Age and sex were included as covariates in within-BD linear regression, as these variables are known to impact CBF (Satterthwaite et al., 2014). Despite BMI varying between the four groups (p=0.027), this was not included as a covariate as BMI has been repeatedly shown to correlate with depression and other indicators of BD severity such that it is too intertwined with the dependent variable to also be included in this study as a covariate. There were no significant differences between the three BD groups in terms of current medication or comorbidity, and these were not included in the model.

## 2.6 Whole brain exploratory analyses

Pairwise comparison of CBF between the four groups was also performed using a whole brain vertex wise analysis in FSL, for a total of six pair-wise comparisons. A general linear model (GLM) was used with race as covariate, employing the FLAME1 (FMRIB's Local Analysis of Mixed Effects) tool in FSL(Woolrich et al., 2004). Cluster-based thresholding was used with a voxel threshold z-value of 2.65 for a significance level of p=0.0083, using Bonferroni correction. In addition to pairwise comparisons between groups, we performed a regression analysis with a model using DRS and MRS, and age and sex as mean-centered

covariates. A z-value of 2 was used for cluster-correction, with a significance level of p=0.05. The same covariates were used for the whole brain analysis as for the ROI analysis, and the rationale for the covariates is discussed above.

**3** Results

#### 3.1 Demographic and clinical characteristics

133 adolescents were recruited, including 75 BD participants and 58 HC. Four participants were removed due to head motion artifact and insufficient image quality. Table 3 presents demographic and clinical variables for 129 adolescents, including 28 BD hypomanic/mixed, 19 BD depressed, 25 BD euthymic, and 57 HC. There were no significant differences in terms of age or sex. In four-way analysis, between-group differences in race approached statistical significance (p=0.056). Race did not however, vary between the three BD groups (p=0.245). Body mass index (BMI) varied between the groups (p=0.027), and *post hoc* pairwise comparisons found significant differences between the HC group and the BD hypomanic/mixed groups (p=0.029). The three BD groups did not vary with respect to age at BD onset, family history of BD, proportion of participants with BD-I, BD-II and BD-NOS, lifetime comorbidity or current medication (all p > 0.09). Expectedly, the 4 groups were significantly different in terms of current mania and depression scores (p < 0.001). The current mania scores were highest in the hypomanic/mixed group than in the HC, depressed and euthymic groups (p < 0.001). Depression scores were comparable between the hypomanic/mixed group and the depressed group (p=0.23), and these groups different from the HC and euthymic groups(p<0.001). Mean CGAS scores were highest in the HC group and post hoc contrasts identified

significant differences between HC and the 3 BD groups(p<0.001). Significant differences were also found in terms of CGAS between BD hypomania/mixed and BD euthymic as well as between BD depressed and BD euthymic (p<0.001 and p=0.002, respectively). No other demographic or clinical variables varied significantly between groups.

*Table 3.* Demographic and clinical variables

	Participants			Participants Statistics		
	HC (N=57)	BD	BD	BD	$F/\chi^2$	P-value
		Hypomanic/	Depressed	Euthymic		
		mixed	(N=19)	(N=25)		
		(N=28)				
Age, years	17.15±1.43	17.07±1.32	17.89±1.41	17.64±1.44	2.02	0.14
Caucasian, n (%)	32(56.1)	20(71.4)	16(88.9)	17(68)	7.56	0.056
Females, n (%)	29(50.9)	20(71.4)	10(52.6)	12(48)	3.98	0.26
SES	53.4 ±10.4	49.2±12.5	55.6±10.4	50.9±13.2	1.49	0.22
Age at onset		14.65±2.55	15.16±1.63	14.75±3.05	0.23	0.78
BMI	$22.03 \pm 3.7^{b}$	24.64±5.11 <sup>a</sup>	24.18±4.10	23.27±3.05	3.18	0.027
BD subtype (%)						
BD-I		9(32.1)	4(21.1)	11(44)		
BD-II		8(28.6)	6(31.6)	8(32)	3.55	0.47
BD-NOS		11(39.3)	9(47.4)	6(24)		
Lifetime comorbidity (%)					•	
Substance use disorder		9(32.1)	3(15.8)	3(12)	3.45	0.18

ADHD		16(57.1)	11(57.9)	8(33.3)	3.70	0.16
Anxiety disorder		26(92.9)	14(73.7)	17(70.8)	4.67	0.097
Family history of BD (%)		13(50)	11(61.1)	11(44)	1.24	0.54
Lifetime medication use (%)						
Antipsychotics		22(78.6)	15(78.9)	17(70.8)	0.54	0.76
Lithium		5(17.9)	5(26.3)	7(29.2)	0.99	0.61
Anticonvulsant		3(10.7)	2(10.5)	0(0)	2.75	0.25
Antidepressant (SSRI)		12(42.9)	7(36.8)	4(16.7)	4.28	0.12
Stimulants		6(21.4)	3(15.8)	6(25)	0.54	0.76
Current medication (%)						
SGA		20(71.4)	11(57.9)	15(60)	1.15	0.56
Lithium		3(10.7)	5(26.3)	7(28)	2.86	0.24
Antidepressant (SSRI)		5(17.9)	1(5.3)	1(4)	3.47	0.18
Stimulants		2(7.1)	2(10.5)	2(8)	0.16	0.92
Clinical scores (±)		I	I	I	1	
Mania score- current	0.19±0.85 <sup>b</sup>	20.39±6.36 <sub>a,c,d</sub>	2.74±2.79 <sup>b</sup>	2.28±3.78 <sup>b</sup>	212.10	<0.001
Mania score- lifetime most severe	$0.74{\pm}1.58_{b,c,d}$	31.54±9.91 <sup>a</sup>	28.47±8.97 <sup>a</sup>	27.16±14.65 <sup>a</sup>	115.62	<0.001
Depression score- current	$0.47 \pm 1.29^{b,c}$	19.93±9.96 <sup>a,d</sup>	23.32±8.04 <sup><i>a</i>,<i>d</i></sup>	$3.88 \pm 4.43^{b,c}$	113.72	< 0.001
Depression score- lifetime most severe	1.53±2.69 <sub>b,c,d</sub>	32.44±10.99 <sup>a</sup>	32.53±11.65 <sup>a</sup>	26.92±11.91 <sup>a</sup>	119.67	<0.001
CGAS – current	$89.49\pm 5.07$	60.65±8.51 <sup><i>a,d</i></sup>	61±12.42 <sup><i>a,d</i></sup>	71.17±13.16 <sub><i>a,b,c</i></sub>	86.64	< 0.001
CGAS – highest past	$89.84\pm 5.08$	62.31±9.33 <sup><i>a,d</i></sup>	66.26±10.8 <sup><i>a,d</i></sup>	74.38±10.96 <sub><i>a,b,c</i></sub>	83.01	< 0.001
CGAS – most severe	$8\overline{2.88\pm6.42}_{b,c,d}$	4 <del>2.35±8.2</del> 4 <sup><i>a</i></sup>	$4\overline{3.05\pm8.99^{a}}$	4 <del>5.46±9.5</del> 9 <sup><i>a</i></sup>	48.93	<0.001

Note. ADHD = attention deficit and/or hyperactivity disorder; BD = bipolar disorder; BD-I = bipolar I disorder; BD-II = bipolar II disorder; BD-NOS = bipolar disorder not otherwise specified; BMI=body mass index; CGAS = Children's Global Assessment Scale; HC = healthy controls; SES = socio economic status; SGA = second generation antipsychotic; SSRI = selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor. Subscript designates pairwise post hoc contrasts with p < 0.05: a = HC; b = BD Hypomanic/mixed; c = BD depressed; d = BD euthymic.

# 3.2 Region of interest analyses

# 3.2.1 Group comparison

CBF values for the selected ROIs (amygdala, middle frontal gyrus, ACC and total GM CBF) are presented by group in Tables 4 and 5, and Figure 1. When comparing all BD to the HC, CBF differed between the two groups in the amygdala (F=4.55, p=0.035,  $p\eta^2$ =0.035), the ACC (F=3.93, p=0.05,  $p\eta^2$ =0.03), and the global gray matter (F=4.82, p=0.03,  $p\eta^2$ =0.037), with higher CBF in the BD group than in the HC group for all regions examined (see Table 4). These did not meet threshold for statistical significance after Bonferroni correction (p=0.017). When examining the differences between the four groups, CBF differed between groups in the ACC (F=2.80, p=0.043,  $\eta^2$ =0.063), although this did not meet threshold for significance after Bonferroni correction, as above. *Post hoc* pairwise comparisons demonstrated that CBF in the ACC was higher in the BD euthymic group (77.10±2.89 ml/100g/min) than in the HC group (68.02±1.93 ml/100g/min) (p=0.062) (see Table 5, and Figure 1). No other regions examined were found to differ between the groups.

				Statistics	
ROI	HC (n=57)	BD (n=72)	F	Partial $\eta^2$	р
Global GM	61.42 (11.26)	65.84 (11.22)	4.82 0.037		0.03
ACC	67.93 (14.72)	73.16 (14.68)	3.93	0.03	0.05
Middle frontal gyrus	75.15 (15.23)	80.20 (15.18)	3.42	0.026	0.067
Amygdala	38.99 (10.17)	42.88 (10.14)	4.55	0.035	0.035

*Table 4*. Cerebral blood flow values in regions of interest in bipolar disorder and control adolescents

Note. CBF in ml/100 g/min (±SD)

ACC= anterior cingulate cortex; BD = bipolar disorder; CBF= cerebral blood flow; GM=gray matter; HC=healthy controls; ROI=region of interest, SD= standard deviation.

		BD	BD	BD		Statistics	
ROI	HC (n=57)	hypomanic/ mixed (n=28)	depressed (n=19)	euthymic (n=25)	F	$\begin{array}{c} Partial \\ \eta^2 \end{array}$	р
Global GM	61.47 (11.22)	65.91 (11.10)	62.46 (11.26)	68.22 (11.07)	2.57	0.059	0.057
ACC	68.02 (14.58)	73.08 (14.44)	67.83 (14.64)	77.10 (14.39)	2.80	0.063	0.043
Middle frontal gyrus	75.22 (15.19)	81.46 (15.03)	75.35 (15.24)	82.30 (14.98)	2.02	0.047	0.114
Amygdala	39.03 (10.17)	42.00 (10.06)	41.01 (10.20)	45.19 (10.04)	2.24	0.051	0.086

*Table 5.* Cerebral blood flow values in regions of interest in bipolar disorder across mood states and in control adolescents

Note. CBF in mL/100 g/min (±SD)

ACC= anterior cingulate cortex; BD = bipolar disorder; CBF= cerebral blood flow; GM=gray matter; HC=healthy controls; ROI=region of interest, SD= standard deviation.


*Figure 1.* Cerebral blood flow in regions of interest in bipolar disorder adolescents across mood states and in control adolescents

3.2.2 Correlation between symptoms and cerebral blood flow

Regression analyses controlling for age and sex examined the relationship between DRS and MRS, and CBF in the amygdala, middle frontal gyrus, ACC and total GM CBF. We found a negative association between DRS and ACC CBF ( $\beta$ =-0.32, *p*=0.016)(see Figure 2). No other relationship was found between DRS, MRS and CBF in the ROIs examined.

*Figure 2*. Cerebral blood flow in the anterior cingulate cortex and clinical scores in adolescents with bipolar disorder



3.2 Whole brain-analyses

# 3.3.1 Group comparison

Whole brain analysis controlling for age and sex found a pattern whereby CBF was

highest in the BD euthymic group than in HC and symptomatic BD. After cluster correction, the BD euthymic group had significantly higher CBF than HC in seven clusters encompassing the left planum temporale and superior temporal gyrus, the right superior and middle temporal gyri, the left cuneal cortex and occipital pole, the right precentral gyrus and the left thalamus (see Figure 3). There was also significantly greater CBF in the euthymic BD group vs. the BD depressed and BD hypomanic/mixed group in one cluster in the left superior temporal cortex (see Figure 4). There were no significant differences between the depressed and hypomanic/mixed BD groups.

*Figure 3.* Regions of higher cerebral blood flow in bipolar disorder euthymic adolescents in contrast to control adolescents



*Figure 4*. Regions of higher cerebral blood flow in euthymic adolescents with bipolar disorder in contrast to bipolar disorder depressed adolescents



3.3.2 Correlation between symptoms and cerebral blood flow

In the BD group, depression symptoms (DRS) were negatively associated with CBF in one cluster in the left superior temporal regions and one cluster in the left cingulate and ventromedial prefrontal cortex (VMPFC) (see Figure 5). There were no significant correlations between CBF and MRS after cluster correction.

*Figure 5.* Regions of negative correlation between depression severity and cerebral blood flow in adolescents with bipolar disorder



### 4 Discussion

## 4.1 Summary of findings

Investigating the link between CBF, mood episodes and severity of mood symptoms in adolescents BD, we found differences between HC, BD euthymic, BD hypomanic/mixed and BD depressed adolescents. First, we found higher CBF in the combined BD group than in HC in the amygdala, the ACC, and the global gray matter. This did not remain significant after correction for multiple comparisons. Next, when examining the differences between the symptomatic BD groups and with HC, we found a pattern of higher CBF in the ACC in the BD euthymic group, and lower CBF in the BD depressed group as well as in HC. After correction for multiple comparisons, this did not meet threshold for significance. No other region examined varied between groups. A whole brain analysis found differences in CBF between the groups in several regions. Higher CBF was identified in the BD euthymic group in contrast to HC in temporal, occipital and precentral regions and in the thalamus. Higher CBF was also found in the BD euthymic group in the left superior temporal cortex in contrast to both the BD depressed and the BD hypomanic groups. No differences were found between the BD depressed and hypomanic groups.

A regression analysis in the BD sample only examining the correlation between mania and depression scores and CBF in the aforementioned ROI identified an inverse relationship between depressive symptom severity and CBF in the ACC. On a whole brain analysis, after correction for multiple comparisons regions of negative correlation between depressive symptom severity and CBF included the left superior temporal cortex, and left cingulate and VMPFC.

## 4.2 Interpretation of findings

Our present results of higher CBF in BD than HC, and particularly in the BD euthymic group contrast with the findings of lower CBF in frontal and temporal regions in symptomatic BD adults in comparison to HC(Toma et al., 2018). As expected, in our ROI analysis, we identified an inverse correlation between CBF and depression scores in the ACC, but also in our whole brain analysis, in additional regions which were we had not expected such as occipital regions and the thalamus.

The following sections explore various factors which may be implicated in our findings. The impact of CBF development during adolescence, as well as of brain maturation divergences between BD and HC may explain the higher CBF in the BD group. The link between metabolism and regional CBF, and particularly the putative impact of abnormal energy metabolism and compensatory mechanisms may contribute to the finding of higher CBF in the BD euthymic group. Similarly, the absence of compensatory increase in CBF in regions implicated in emotional regulation may underlie our findings of an inverse correlation between CBF and depression scores. Finally, the interconnections between microvascular dysfunction, inflammation and abnormal energy metabolism are explored in the context of mood states in BD.

#### 4.2.1 Neurodevelopment and cerebral blood flow

Differences in terms of CBF developmental trajectories could be implicated in the divergence between our findings and prior findings of decreased CBF in BD adults. Several studies of normal development of CBF during adolescence and young adulthood demonstrate a decline in CBF towards the end of adolescence with notable sex differences(Bray, 2017)(Biagi et al., 2007)(Chiron et al., 1992)(Satterthwaite et al., 2014).

Sex-by-age interactions in CBF development during normal adolescence were identified in regions of the heteromodal association cortex and executive network such as the posterior cingulate cortex, VMPFC, lateral temporal, and inferior parietal regions and DLPFC(Satterthwaite et al., 2014). Indeed, whereas CBF declined in mid-puberty in males, it increased in females, highlighting different processes in function of sex, possibly due to the impact of sex hormones such as estrogen(Satterthwaite et al., 2014).

Similarly, loss/pruning of gray matter volume occurs in normal adolescence and is thought to follow a characteristic inverted U-shape curve, with distinctive peak periods in various brain regions and maturation of the prefrontal cortex occurring only at the beginning of adulthood (Gogtay et al., 2004). In contrast, white matter volume and fractional anisotropy is thought to increase during adolescence (Barnea-Goraly et al., 2005)(Peters et al., 2012). Prior studies in BD adolescents have found abnormal developmental trajectories of gray and white matter volume among adolescents with BD, with putative delay in maturation (Najt et al., 2016)(Gogtay et al., 2007)(Cabeen et al., 2018)(Weathers et al., 2018).

The interplay between neurodevelopment and neuroprogression in late adolescence and early adulthood in youth with BD is not fully understood and may result in different or delayed developmental trajectories, in terms of gray matter, gray matter, functional connectivity and CBF. Hypothetically, differences in terms of developmental curves of CBF during adolescence in BD could result in higher CBF in BD as a group, either because of abnormal development of CBF curves or secondarily to white or gray matter differences. Indeed, studies in various populations report on a link between lower brain volume or lower cortical thickness and lower CBF(Appelman et al., 2008; J. J. Chen et al., 2011; Inoue et al.,

2005; Kaichi et al., 2016; Meltzer et al., 2000). A large longitudinal study in aging adults found that lower cortical thickness was predicting future decline in CBF over time, and a link between lower CBF and subsequent brain atrophy was also found in those over 65, suggesting impaired regulatory mechanisms(Zonneveld et al., 2015).

In adults with BD, there is evidence of reduced cortical thickness in comparison to healthy controls, particularly in the left ACC and paracingulate, left superior temporal regions, orbitofrontal cortex (OFC), ventrolateral prefrontal cortex (VLPFC) and DLPFC(Hanford et al., 2016), and a recent large international study found BD cortical thinning in frontal, temporal and parietal regions, especially in the left pars opercularis, left fusiform gyrus and left middle frontal cortex(Hibar et al., 2017). Conversely, gray matter differences between adolescents with BD and controls have been less consistent, with amygdala volume reduction being the most replicated finding (Jean A Frazier et al., 2005)(Wilke et al., 2004)(Dickstein et al., 2005)(Kaur et al., 2005)(Pfeifer et al., 2008)(Kelley et al., 2013). Lower cortical volume and thickness in adults with BD could be associated with lower regional CBF in this population, which may not be captured crosssectionally in our adolescent sample.

4.2.2 Studies of cerebral blood flow in psychiatric populations in adolescents

The literature on CBF in adolescents with mood disorders is limited. The only other study of CBF in BD adolescents reports on increased CBF in the medial frontal and middle cingulate regions using a smaller proportion of the current sample (n=31 BD and 20 HC)(MacIntosh et al., 2017). A small number of studies have investigated CBF in adolescents with major depressive disorder (MDD). A study comparing adolescents with

MDD (n=18) to healthy adolescents (n=19) with a mean age of 16.2 years old found regions of lower CBF encompassing the ACC, the cerebellum, the amygdala, the insula and inferior frontal and temporal regions, and increased CBF in the subcallosal cingulate, putamen and fusiform gyrus in the adolescents with MDD(Ho et al., 2013). No correlation was found between CBF and clinical characteristics such as severity of depressive symptoms(Ho et al., 2013). The authors conclude that their findings are overall consistent with CBF and functional imaging studies of adults with MDD, acknowledging the heterogeneity of the condition(Ho et al., 2013)(Videbech, 2000)(Pagani et al., 2004)(Lui et al., 2009).

A study of the impact of CBT on CBF in treatment naïve adolescents with MDD (mean age 16.5) found an increase in CBF in the right DLPFC, the right caudate nucleus and the left inferior parietal lobe after 5 sessions of CBT in contrast to pretreatment CBF. No link was found between symptom remission and regional CBF, which could be due to the small sample size (21 across CBT and control groups)(Sosic-Vasic et al., 2017). The authors speculate that lower CBF in cognitive executive regions may be involved in depression in adolescents, and increased CBF may be implicated in symptomatic remission(Sosic-Vasic et al., 2017).

Our findings of increased CBF in BD are consistent with those of a large transdiagnostic study in youth (age 11-23, mean age 16.1), which found increased CBF in the ACC, postcentral gyrus, medial temporal lobe and midbrain in correlation with lifetime psychopathology including mood disorders, anxiety and psychosis(Kaczkurkin et al., 2017). Furthermore, in the same sample of adolescents longstanding high levels of anxiety and mood symptoms ("trait anxiety") were associated with increased CBF in the amygdala, anterior insula and inferior temporal cortex. In addition, higher trait anxiety was found to be

mediated by increased CBF in the amygdala in girls of post-pubertal age(Kaczkurkin et al., 2016). This is suggestive of trait increased CBF in adolescents with psychopathology in regions including the ACC, temporal and limbic regions, which is similar to our findings both in terms of regions and directionality and may represent a development-specific state. 4.2.3 Cerebral blood flow during euthymia

*Our findings of state-dependent CBF differences in the BD euthymic group in contrast to the symptomatic BD groups may relate to increased neuronal activation or metabolic activity in those regions in the BD euthymic group.* There is normally a coupling between CBF and activation, and increased CBF is thought to be associated with increased local neuronal activity (Paulson et al., 2009) (Villringer and Dirnagl, 1995). Furthermore, the hemodynamic response also depends on the efficacy of the energy metabolism and mitochondrial function(Kann and Kovács, 2006)(Sanganahalli et al., 2013). Studies reporting activation using blood oxygen changes (blood oxygen level-dependent (BOLD) contrast signal) as a marker of neuronal activation would be directly impacted by low CBF (Denfield et al., 2016). Indeed, fMRI BOLD results depend on CBF and on the cerebral metabolic rate of oxygen consumption (Whittaker et al., 2016). Factors influencing basal CBF levels such as caffeine or hypercapnia have been found to directly impact fMRI BOLD results (Liau et al., 2008) (Ances et al., 2008).

Our findings of increased CBF in the BD euthymic group in temporal, occipital and precentral regions as well as in the thalamus may represent a compensatory mechanism. These regions are thought to be implicated in multimodal integration of complex auditory and visual emotional information (Robins et al., 2009) (Narumoto et al., 2001) (Watson et al., 2014). fMRI studies in pediatric BD report on abnormal connectivity of the superior

temporal and visual cortices (Garrett et al., 2012)(Dickstein et al., 2010). One study reports specifically on hyperactivation of the superior temporal sulcus and fusiform gyrus in euthymic BD with emotion processing in contrast to healthy controls(Pavuluri et al., 2007).

fMRI studies in adults with BD in different mood states report on differences in amygdala activation with some reproduction of decreased activation of the prefrontal cortex across mood states(Townsend and Altshuler, 2012) (C.-H. Chen et al., 2011) (Hilary P. Blumberg et al., 2003) (R O Brady et al., 2017) (Shaffer et al., 2017) (Hummer et al., 2013) (Perlman et al., 2012) (Versace et al., 2010) (Cerullo et al., 2012). A longitudinal study comparing BD participants between mania and euthymia in a resting state paradigm found decreased connectivity between the amygdala and the anterior cingulate cortex as well as increased connectivity between the amygdala and the supplemental motor area in mania in contrast to euthymia(Roscoe O. Brady et al., 2017). A recent review of resting state connectivity in BD adults reports on heterogeneity between studies in BD euthymia in adults, with multiple studies failing to identify significant differences between default mode network, frontal parietal and salience networks between adults with BD euthymia and controls(Syan et al., 2018). Some studies included found abnormal resting state connectivity in networks encompassing the amygdala, VLPFC, cingulate and middle frontal gyrus(Syan et al., 2018). The authors report that abnormal functional connectivity of the ACC may represent compensatory mechanisms to maintain euthymia(Syan et al., 2018). Nonetheless, activation fMRI study results are challenging to interpret and compare due to different task paradigm employed and methodological differences(Weinberger and Radulescu, 2016).

Furthermore, although there is normally a coupling between brain activation and

CBF, decoupling is described in vascular and neurodegenerative disorders(Girouard, 2006; Østergaard et al., 2013). The nature of the relationship between CBF and brain activation in BD is unknown and a study in adults with BD reported on a positive correlation between metabolism and CBF in HC, and an inverse relationship between metabolism and CBF in BD in the ACC, suggesting uncoupling in a region known to have a key role in BD(Dunn et al., 2005).

Contemporary theories regarding the etiopathology of BD highlight abnormal energy metabolism and mitochondrial dysfunction(Kato and Kato, 2003)(Andreazza et al., 2018). Ineffective metabolic pathways in the context of impaired phosphorylation may lead to higher needs for CBF, in the context of higher needs for glucose and oxygen in order to maintain function(Mansur et al., 2013)(Stork and Renshaw, 2005). A study specifically found evidence of abnormal phosphorus metabolism in the frontal lobe in adolescents with BD, suggesting impaired energy metabolism(Shi et al., 2012). Therefore, maintaining euthymia may require higher CBF in adolescents with BD.

4.2.4 Cerebral blood flow in relation to severity of depressive symptoms

The inverse relationship between CBF and depression scores in the ACC, and the higher CBF in BD euthymic participants suggests that increased CBF to the ACC may be involved in euthymia and mood stability, and conversely, that low CBF in the ACC may result or originate from depressed states. The ACC is thought to be involved in the integration of emotional processing and regulation, due to its position at the intersection of ventral and dorsal prefrontal regions(Mohanty et al., 2007) (Etkin et al., 2011) (Drevets et al., 2008). Studies in both youth and adults with BD report on structural and functional abnormalities of the ACC in BD in comparison to healthy controls, although there are also

negative studies or inconsistent directionality of findings(Hirayasu et al., 1999) (Connolly et al., 2013)(Malhi et al., 2004)(Hajek et al., 2008)(Javadapour et al., 2007). Specifically, hypoactivation of the ACC in adults with BD depression has been replicated(Fountoulakis et al., 2008). A study in adolescents with BD depression found that remission from depression was correlated with increased ACC activation during an emotion processing task at baseline(Diler et al., 2013). Studies in adults with BD have also linked severity of depressive symptoms with lower glucose metabolism in frontal regions(Buchsbaum et al., 1986)(Baxter Jr. et al., 1989)(Ketter et al., 2001). The directionality of these findings is unknown, i.e.: *does lower CBF in the ACC result in depressive symptoms, or do depressive symptoms lead to lower CBF in the ACC*?

## 4.2.5 Cerebral blood flow in relation to medication

Our results are unlikely to be solely attributable to medication, as medication was similarly distributed between the BD groups. Nonetheless, past studies have identified an impact of medication on CBF, mainly in non-BD populations, which may have impacted our contrast between BD and HC. A study in healthy volunteers found a decrease in CBF in regions encompassing the amygdala, fusiform gyrus, insula, and orbitofrontal cortex following one dose of oral citalopram(Y. Chen et al., 2011). Another study in participants with MDD found an initial higher CBF in MDD in comparison to controls in temporal and frontal regions, including the cingulate cortex, which normalized following a course of 6 weeks of treatment with escitalopram(Kaichi et al., 2016). In healthy volunteers a single dose of antipsychotics was found to increase regional CBF in the striatum, anterior cingulate and insula, and decrease CBF in frontal regions, with compound differences(Handley et al., 2013)(Hawkins et al., 2018). The only study specifically

addressing the effect of medication on CBF in BD participants examined the impact of lithium discontinuation in 14 adult BD participants and found increased CBF in the left temporal cortex and decreased CBF in the left ACC following lithium discontinuation(Goodwin et al., 1997).

Furthermore, it is important to highlight the absence of studies examining medication effects on CBF in adolescent with BD, and the presence of one study with a small sample size in adults. It is unknown if medication would impact CBF similarly in BD than in healthy controls or MDD, as discussed above.

Importantly our treatment rates are also comparable to other BD neuroimaging samples, both in adults and adolescents, and would not have impacted our sample differently(Blumberg et al., 2006)(Dickstein et al., 2005)(Chang et al., 2005). Notably however, most CBF studies in BD do not include information about participants' medication status at the time of scan(Toma et al., 2018), with some exceptions(Bhardwaj et al., 2010)(Tutus et al., 1998).

4.2.6 Cerebral blood flow, vascular pathology and inflammation

Taken together with previous findings of abnormal CBF in adults with BD, premature vascular mortality and morbidity in BD, our present findings add to the literature suggesting a link between vascular pathology and BD(Toma et al., 2018)(Fiedorowicz et al., 2014, 2012; Goldstein et al., 2015b). Here are discussed mechanistic hypotheses regarding vascular disease and BD.

*Cerebral blood vessels may be abnormal in terms of structure and function in BD.* Cardiovascular risk factors, known to be elevated in BD populations, are associated with aberrant pulsatility and flow velocity in large cerebral arteries, with an impact on

microcirculation(Pase et al., 2012). A large longitudinal study found that untreated hypertension in a population with atherosclerosis was associated with a decline in CBF over time, hypothesizing a link between untreated hypertension and microvascular damage, leading to lower CBF(Muller et al., 2012). Endothelial dysfunction, which is evident in adults with CVD risk factors and adults with BD, can lead to decreased availability of nitric oxide (NO), which in turn can negatively impact CBF given its involvement in CBF regulation(Davignon and Ganz, 2004; Endemann and Schiffrin, 2004; Rybakowski et al., 2006). Studies have linked low CBF and small vessel disease in the context of atherosclerosis and arteriolar lumenal narrowing leading to low CBF(Shi et al., 2016).

Furthermore, white matter hyperintensities (WMH) observed on T2 weighted MR images are often used as a marker of microvascular disease. WMH have been consistently linked with low CBF, especially in older adults(Brickman et al., 2009; van Dalen et al., 2016; Vernooij et al., 2008). WMH are also believed to be associated with endothelial dysfunction and impaired NO function(Faraci and Brian, 1994). Importantly, WMH are known to be increased in prevalence in BD subjects, which supports the possibility of an association between vascular pathology and BD(Gunde et al., 2011; Monkul et al., 2005).

Finally, a study has reported on abnormal cerebrovascular reactivity, a marker of microvascular integrity in BD adolescents, further supporting the link between BD and microvascular pathology early in the course of illness(Urback et al., 2019).

*BD and CVD could be linked via increased inflammation and oxidative stress and low levels of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF)*(Berk et al., 2011; Goldstein et al., 2009; Goldstein, 2017; Leboyer et al., 2012). Inflammation is associated with endovascular changes, such as impaired vasomotor function, enhanced production of reactive oxygen

species and endothelial barrier damage as well as decrease in availability of NO(Kim et al., 2013; Siti et al., 2015). Similarly, oxidative stress promotes endothelial damage via impairment of NO regulatory mechanisms(Higashi et al., 2009; Muller et al., 2007). BDNF is involved in endothelial cell proliferation and angiogenesis(Kermani and Hempstead, 2007; Liu et al., 2006), and polymorphisms in this gene have been related to abnormal cortical development specifically in mood disorders(Pezawas et al., 2008). It is hypothesized that a constellation of cardiovascular risk factors, inflammation and oxidative stress, may have a synergistic deleterious effect on the microvessels and cortex(Granger et al., 2010). Multiple studies found an increase in inflammatory markers in BD subjects, especially during mood episodes(Berk et al., 2011; Rosenblat and McIntyre, 2016).

*Cerebral blood flow abnormalities in BD may be related to mood episodes.* This converges with findings of increased inflammatory markers in BD during mood episodes as well as with the link between greater CVD burden and number and severity of mood episodes(Fiedorowicz et al., 2014, 2012, 2009).

### 4.3 Limitations

Several limitations must be acknowledged. First, our cross-sectional design did not allow the comparison of participants' mood states over time, and also precludes inferences regarding the direction of our findings (i.e. does CBF predict mood or vice versa). Similarly, due to cross-sectional design, inferences about the impact of development and developmental curve differences in BD vs HC youth cannot be tested and remains speculative. Sample size constraints required the combination of the hypomanic and mixed groups, which may represent different processes. There is no previous study of CBF in BD participants with mixed features previously. Furthermore, the manic scores in our

participants remained overall low with a limited distribution (20.39±6.36) even in our BD hypomanic/mixed group whereas the MRS is scored from 0 to 65. This is in part due to difficulties recruiting and undergoing the imaging protocol in the case of mania. This may have impacted our ability to generalize our results to participants with mania and limiting the correlation between mania scores and CBF given the limitations in distribution.

In addition, as per previously established methodology, mood scores were obtained by employing the scores of the worst week in the past month, which may in certain cases not represent mood state at the time of the imaging procedure.

Furthermore, although this was similar between BD groups, medication and comorbidity was high in our sample, as is representative of adolescent BD samples(Frias et al., 2015). This may nonetheless have impacted on our findings as medication has been found to impact CBF and brain activation as discussed above(Y. Chen et al., 2011)(Pavuluri and Passarotti, 2012). This must be balanced against the need to include a population representation of clinical samples, therefore rendering our results more generalizable.

The strengths of this study are the unique sample, representing the largest known CBF sample of BD participants irrespective of age. Given the known association between BD and CBF, there has been relatively limited study of vascular markers and integration of vascular pathology in BD imaging investigation. By including BD adolescents with a relatively narrow age range we investigated a population with a relatively recent onset of illness, limited lifetime medication use, and overall lower potential impact of neuroprogression. CBF may provide an additional useful measure to neuroimaging given its possibility for quantification, and that fMRI is representative of both CBF and neuronal activation.

4.4 Future directions

This preliminary study suggests that CBF would be worthy of ongoing study in large prospective studies to further understand BD pathophysiology and assist with treatment.

Future studies should investigate the impact of specific mood and anxiety symptoms on CBF in larger cohorts. First, larger prospective studies are warranted to examine withinperson changes in CBF in relation to different mood states in BD. Linking mood symptom change and CBF changes would be interesting to note if CBF predicts changes in terms of mood or symptoms. Looking at specific symptoms of depression or hypomania such as depressed mood, irritability or changes in energy may allow to precisely identify the impact of CBF changes.

Second, studying CBF in BD at different stages of illness, including at onset and in healthy relatives may provide additional information on development of BD, in the context of known developmental factors affecting CBF development in adolescents(Satterthwaite et al., 2014).

Third, studies correlating CBF in BD with cardiovascular risk factors and peripheral inflammatory markers would also allow for testing of the hypothesis linking vascular pathology, inflammation and low CBF. Furthermore, given the impact of CBF on BOLD findings, future fMRI studies would benefit from integrating and reporting CBF as a covariate or predictor. Multi-contrast functional MRI studies are needed to further understand the complex relationship between CBF and activation. The method of choice to measure CBF depends on the patient population and the clinical question, for example ASL may be preferable in youth as it is non-invasive and does not expose participants to ionizing

radiation(Zhang et al., 2014).

Finally, despite accumulation of data regarding impaired CBF in BD, this has not been used specifically as a treatment target or treatment response marker. Future studies could evaluate CBF as a treatment target, by employing xenobiotics known to impact CBF such as nitrous oxide or pentoxifylline(McCarty et al., 2016)(Gyulai et al., 1996)(Emmanouil and Quock, 2007)(Nagele et al., 2018). CBF could also be used to characterise the response to existing treatments for BD, such as antipsychotics, mood stabilizers or antidepressants. This has not been previously studied in BD, although few studies have examined the predictive value of pre-treatment CBF in late life depression,

treatment-resistant depression and OCD, with promising results(Abi Zeid Daou et al., 2017)(Richieri et al., 2011)(Wen et al., 2013). Prospective studies should assess regional CBF change in relation to treatment and response on validated symptom scales.

## 4.5 Conclusion

In conclusion, this controlled study of CBF differences across different mood states among adolescents with BD found state (i.e. mood-related) and trait (i.e. mood-unrelated) CBF differences. We identified higher CBF in the BD euthymic group in contrast to HC in temporal, occipital and precentral regions and in the thalamus and in contrast to the symptomatic BD in superior temporal regions. An inverse correlation between CBF and depressive symptom severity was found in the BD group in the ACC, superior temporal and VMPFC. This may further support the hypothesis of CBF compensation to ensure euthymia, and its absence, depressive symptom burden. Mechanistic hypotheses for our findings include the impact of developmental factors, differences in terms of brain

activation or structure and vascular abnormalities. This study adds to the accumulating data about the link between BD and vascular health and disease, and future directions include larger studies of CBF and BD integrating multimodal approaches and CBF as a treatment marker and target.

# References

- Abi Zeid Daou, M., Boyd, B.D., Donahue, M.J., Albert, K., Taylor, W.D., 2017. Frontocingulate cerebral blood flow and cerebrovascular reactivity associated with antidepressant response in late-life depression. J. Affect. Disord. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2017.03.027
- Agarwal, N., Bellani, M., Perlini, C., Rambaldelli, G., Atzori, M., Cerini, R., Vecchiato, F., Pozzi Mucelli, R., Andreone, N., Balestrieri, M., Tansella, M., Brambilla, P., 2008. Increased fronto-temporal perfusion in bipolar disorder. J. Affect. Disord. 110, 106– 114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2008.01.013
- Almeida, J.R.C., Mourao-Miranda, J., Aizenstein, H.J., Versace, A., Kozel, F.A., Lu, H., Marquand, A., LaBarbara, E.J., Brammer, M., Trivedi, M., Kupfer, D.J., Phillips, M.L., 2013. Pattern recognition analysis of anterior cingulated cortex blood flow to classify depression polarity. Br. J. Psychiatry 203, 310–311. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.112.122838
- Alsop, D.C., Detre, J.A., Golay, X., Günther, M., Hendrikse, J., Hernandez-Garcia, L., Lu, H., Macintosh, B.J., Parkes, L.M., Smits, M., Van Osch, M.J.P., Wang, D.J.J., Wong, E.C., Zaharchuk, G., 2015. Recommended implementation of arterial spin-labeled Perfusion mri for clinical applications: A consensus of the ISMRM Perfusion Study group and the European consortium for ASL in dementia. Magn. Reson. Med. 73, 102–116. https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.25197
- American Psychiatric Association, 2013. Diagnostic and Statistic Manual of Mental Disorders: fifth edition. American psychiatric publishing, Washington, DC.
- American Psychiatric Association, 1994. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual for Mental Disorders, 4th edition, 4th editio. ed. American psychiatric publishing, Washington, DC.
- Ances, B.M., Leontiev, O., Perthen, J.E., Liang, C., Lansing, A.E., Buxton, R.B., 2008. Regional differences in the coupling of cerebral blood flow and oxygen metabolism changes in response to activation: Implications for BOLD-fMRI. Neuroimage. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.11.015
- Andreazza, A.C., Duong, A., Young, L.T., 2018. Bipolar Disorder as a Mitochondrial Disease. Biol. Psychiatry. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2017.09.018
- Appelman, A.P. a, van der Graaf, Y., Vincken, K.L., Tiehuis, A.M., Witkamp, T.D., Mali, W.P.T.M., Geerlings, M.I., 2008. Total cerebral blood flow, white matter lesions and brain atrophy: the SMART-MR study. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 28, 633–639. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.jcbfm.9600563
- Axelson, D., Birmaher, B., Strober, M., Gill, M.K., Valeri, S., Chiappetta, L., Ryan, N., Leonard, H., Hunt, J., Iyengar, S., Bridge, J., Keller, M., 2006. Phenomenology of children and adolescents with bipolar spectrum disorders. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 63, 1139–1148. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.63.10.1139
- Axelson, D., Birmaher, B.J., Brent, D., Wassick, S., Hoover, C., Bridge, J., Ryan, N., 2003. A preliminary study of the Kiddie Schedule for Affective Disorders and Schizophrenia for School-Age Children mania rating scale for children and adolescents. J. Child Adolesc. Psychopharmacol. 13, 463–470. https://doi.org/10.1089/104454603322724850

Barnea-Goraly, N., Menon, V., Eckert, M., Tamm, L., Bammer, R., Karchemskiy, A., Dant,

C.C., Reiss, A.L., 2005. White matter development during childhood and adolescence: A cross-sectional diffusion tensor imaging study. Cereb. Cortex. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhi062

- Bauer, M., Andreassen, O.A., Geddes, J.R., Vedel Kessing, L., Lewitzka, U., Schulze, T.G., Vieta, E., 2018. Areas of uncertainties and unmet needs in bipolar disorders: clinical and research perspectives. The Lancet Psychiatry. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(18)30253-0
- Baxter Jr., L.R., Schwartz, J.M., Phelps, M.E., Mazziotta, J.C., Guze, B.H., Selin, C.E., Gerner, R.H., Sumida, R.M., 1989. Reduction of prefrontal cortex glucose metabolism common to three types of depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry 46, 243–250. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.1989.01810030049007
- Benabarre, A., Vieta, E., Martínez-Arán, A., Garcia-Garcia, M., Martín, F., Lomeña, F., Torrent, C., Sánchez-Moreno, J., Colom, F., Reinares, M., Brugue, E., Valdés, M., 2005. Neuropsychological disturbances and cerebral blood flow in bipolar disorder. Aust. N. Z. J. Psychiatry 39, 227–234. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1614.2004.01558.x
- Berk, M., Kapczinski, F., Andreazza, A.C., Dean, O.M., Giorlando, F., Maes, M., Yücel, M., Gama, C.S., Dodd, S., Dean, B., Magalhães, P.V.S., Amminger, P., McGorry, P., Malhi, G.S., 2011. Pathways underlying neuroprogression in bipolar disorder: Focus on inflammation, oxidative stress and neurotrophic factors. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2010.10.001
- Berns, G.S., Martin, M., Proper, S.M., 2002. Limbic hyperreactivity in bipolar II disorder. Am. J. Psychiatry 159, 304–306. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.159.2.304
- Bhardwaj, R., Chakrabarti, S., Mittal, B.R., Sharan, P., 2010. A single photon emission computerized tomography (SPECT) study of regional cerebral blood flow in bipolar disorder. World J. Biol. Psychiatry 11, 334–43. https://doi.org/10.3109/15622970802575977
- Biagi, L., Abbruzzese, A., Bianchi, M.C., Alsop, D.C., Del Guerra, A., Tosetti, M., 2007. Age dependence of cerebral perfusion assessed by magnetic resonance continuous arterial spin labeling. J. Magn. Reson. Imaging. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmri.20839
- Birmaher, B., Axelson, D., Goldstein, B., Strober, M., Gill, M.K., Hunt, J., Houck, P., Ha, W., Iyengar, S., Kim, E., Yen, S., Hower, H., Esposito-Smythers, C., Goldstein, T., Ryan, N., Keller, M., 2009. Four-year longitudinal course of children and adolescents with bipolar spectrum disorders: The course and outcome of bipolar youth (COBY) study. Am. J. Psychiatry 166, 795–804.

https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2009.08101569

- Blumberg, H.P., Kaufman, J., Martin, A., Whiteman, R., Zhang, J.H., Gore, J.C., Charney, D.S., Krystal, J.H., Peterson, B.S., 2003. Amygdala and hippocampal volumes in adolescents and adults with bipolar disorder. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 60, 1201–8. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.60.12.1201
- Blumberg, H.P., Krystal, J.H., Bansal, R., Martin, A., Dziura, J., Durkin, K., Martin, L., Gerard, E., Charney, D.S., Peterson, B.S., 2006. Age, rapid-cycling, and pharmacotherapy effects on ventral prefrontal cortex in bipolar disorder: A crosssectional study. Biol. Psychiatry 59, 611–618. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.08.031

Blumberg, H.P., Leung, H.C., Skudlarski, P., Lacadie, C.M., Fredericks, C.A., Harris, B.C.,

Charney, D.S., Gore, J.C., Krystal, J.H., Peterson, B.S., 2003. A functional magnetic resonance imaging study of bipolar disorder: State- and trait-related dysfunction in ventral prefrontal cortices. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 60, 601–609. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.60.6.601

- Bonne, O., Krausz, Y., Gorfine, M., Karger, H., Gelfin, Y., Shapira, B., Chisin, R., Lerer, B., 1996. Cerebral hypoperfusion in medication resistant, depressed patients assessed by Tc99m HMPAO SPECT. J. Affect. Disord. 41, 163–171. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-0327(96)00058-4
- Borogovac, A., Asllani, I., 2012. Arterial spin labeling (ASL) fMRI: Advantages, theoretical constrains and experimental challenges in neurosciences. Int. J. Biomed. Imaging. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/818456
- Brady, R.O., Margolis, A., Masters, G.A., Keshavan, M., Öngür, D., 2017. Bipolar mood state reflected in cortico-amygdala resting state connectivity: A cohort and longitudinal study. J. Affect. Disord. 217, 205–209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2017.03.043
- Brady, R.O., Tandon, N., Masters, G.A., Margolis, A., Cohen, B.M., Keshavan, M., Öngür, D., 2017. Differential brain network activity across mood states in bipolar disorder. J. Affect. Disord. 207, 367–376. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2016.09.041
- Bray, S., 2017. Age-associated patterns in gray matter volume, cerebral perfusion and BOLD oscillations in children and adolescents. Hum. Brain Mapp. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.23526
- Brickman, A.M., Zahra, A., Muraskin, J., Steffener, J., Holland, C.M., Habeck, C., Borogovac, A., Ramos, M.A., Brown, T.R., Asllani, I., Stern, Y., 2009. Reduction in cerebral blood flow in areas appearing as white matter hyperintensities on magnetic resonance imaging. Psychiatry Res. 172, 117–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pscychresns.2008.11.006
- Buchsbaum, M.S., Wu, J., DeLisi, L.E., Holcomb, H., Kessler, R., Johnson, J., King, A.C., Hazlett, E., Langston, K., Post, R.M., 1986. Frontal cortex and basal ganglia metabolic rates assessed by positron emission tomography with [18F]2-deoxyglucose in affective illness. J. Affect. Disord. https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-0327(86)90036-4
- Cabeen, R.P., Laidlaw, D.H., Ruggieri, A., Dickstein, D.P., 2018. Preliminary mapping of the structural effects of age in pediatric bipolar disorder with multimodal MR imaging. Psychiatry Res. - Neuroimaging. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pscychresns.2017.12.006
- Cantisani, A., Stegmayer, K., Bracht, T., Federspiel, A., Wiest, R., Horn, H., Müller, T.J., Schneider, C., Höfle, O., Strik, W., Walther, S., 2016. Distinct resting-state perfusion patterns underlie psychomotor retardation in unipolar vs. bipolar depression. Acta Psychiatr. Scand. 134, 329–338. https://doi.org/10.1111/acps.12625
- Cardenas, J., Frye, M.A., Marusak, S.L., Levander, E.M., Chirichigno, J.W., Lewis, S., Nakelsky, S., Hwang, S., Mintz, J., Altshuler, L.L., 2008. Modal subcomponents of metabolic syndrome in patients with bipolar disorder. J. Affect. Disord. 106, 91–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2007.05.030
- Cerullo, M.A., Fleck, D.E., Eliassen, J.C., Smith, M.S., Delbello, M.P., Adler, C.M., Strakowski, S.M., 2012. A longitudinal functional connectivity analysis of the amygdala in bipolar I disorder across mood states. Bipolar Disord. 14, 175–184. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-5618.2012.01002.x
- Chambers, W.J., Puig-Antich, J., Hirsch, M., Paez, P., Ambrosini, P.J., Tabrizi, M.A.,

Davies, M., 1985. The assessment of affective disorders in children and adolescents by semistructured interview. Test-retest reliability of the schedule for affective disorders and schizophrenia for school-age children, present episode version. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 42, 696–702. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.1985.01790300064008

- Chang, K., Barnea-Goraly, N., Karchemskiy, A., Simeonova, D.I., Barnes, P., Ketter, T., Reiss, A.L., 2005. Cortical magnetic resonance imaging findings in familial pediatric bipolar disorder. Biol. Psychiatry 58, 197–203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.03.039
- Chen, C.-H., Suckling, J., Lennox, B.R., Ooi, C., Bullmore, E.T., 2011. A quantitative meta-analysis of fMRI studies in bipolar disorder. Bipolar Disord. 13, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-5618.2011.00893.x
- Chen, J.J., Rosas, H.D., Salat, D.H., 2011. Age-associated reductions in cerebral blood flow are independent from regional atrophy. Neuroimage 55, 468–478. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.12.032
- Chen, Y., Wan, H.I., O'Reardon, J.P., Wang, D.J.J., Wang, Z., Korczykowski, M., Detre, J.A., 2011. Quantification of cerebral blood flow as biomarker of drug effect: Arterial spin labeling phMRI after a single dose of oral citalopram. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. https://doi.org/10.1038/clpt.2010.296
- Chiron, C., Raynaud, C., Mazière, B., Zilbovicius, M., Laflamme, L., Masure, M.C., Dulac, O., Bourguignon, M., Syrota, A., 1992. Changes in regional cerebral blood flow during brain maturation in children and adolescents. J. Nucl. Med.
- Connolly, C.G., Wu, J., Ho, T.C., Hoeft, F., Wolkowitz, O., Eisendrath, S., Frank, G., Hendren, R., Max, J.E., Paulus, M.P., Tapert, S.F., Banerjee, D., Simmons, A.N., Yang, T.T., 2013. Resting-state functional connectivity of subgenual anterior cingulate cortex in depressed adolescents. Biol. Psychiatry 74, 898–907. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.05.036
- Culha, A.F., Osman, O., Dogangün, Y., Filiz, K., Suna, K., Kalkan, O.N., Gulfizar, V., Beyza, A., 2008. Changes in regional cerebral blood flow demonstrated by 99mTc-HMPAO SPECT in euthymic bipolar patients. Eur. Arch. Psychiatry Clin. Neurosci. 258, 144–151. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00406-007-0766-7
- Davignon, J., Ganz, P., 2004. Role of endothelial dysfunction in atherosclerosis. Circulation 109, III27-32. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.0000131515.03336.f8
- Deckersbach, T., Dougherty, D.D., Savage, C., McMurrich, S., Fischman, A.J., Nierenberg, A., Sachs, G., Rauch, S.L., 2006. Impaired recruitment of the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex and hippocampus during encoding in bipolar disorder. Biol. Psychiatry 59, 138– 146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.06.030
- DelBello, M.P., Zimmerman, M.E., Mills, N.P., Getz, G.E., Strakowski, S.M., 2004. Magnetic resonance imaging analysis of amygdala and other subcortical brain regions in adolescents with bipolar disorder. Bipolar Disord 6, 43–52. https://doi.org/087 [pii]
- Delvenne, V., Delecluse, F., Hubain, P.P., Schoutens, A., De Maertelaer, V., Mendlewicz, J., 1990. Regional cerebral blood flow in patients with affective disorders. Br J Psychiatry.
- Denfield, G.H., Fahey, P.G., Reimer, J., Tolias, A.S., 2016. Investigating the Limits of Neurovascular Coupling. Neuron. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2016.08.026
- Detre, J. a, Wang, J., Wang, Z., Rao, H., 2009. Arterial spin-labeled perfusion MRI in basic and clinical neuroscience. Curr. Opin. Neurol. 22, 348–355.

https://doi.org/10.1097/WCO.0b013e32832d9505

- Dev, S.I., McKenna, B.S., Sutherland, A.N., Shin, D.D., Liu, T.T., Wierenga, C.E., Eyler, L.T., 2015. Increased cerebral blood flow associated with better response inhibition in bipolar disorder. J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc. 21, 105–15. https://doi.org/10.1017/S135561771400112X
- Dickstein, D.P., Gorrostieta, C., Ombao, H., Goldberg, L.D., Brazel, A.C., Gable, C.J., Kelly, C., Gee, D.G., Zuo, X.N., Castellanos, F.X., Milham, M.P., 2010. Frontotemporal spontaneous resting state functional connectivity in pediatric bipolar disorder. Biol. Psychiatry. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.06.029
- Dickstein, D.P., Milham, M.P., Nugent, A.C., Drevets, W.C., Charney, D.S., Pine, D.S., Leibenluft, E., 2005. Frontotemporal alterations in pediatric bipolar disorder: results of a voxel-based morphometry study. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 62, 734–41. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.62.7.734
- Diler, R.S., Ladouceur, C.D., Segreti, A.M., Almeida, J.R.C., Birmaher, B., Axelson, D.A., Phillips, M.L., Pan, L.A., 2013. Neural correlates of treatment response in depressed bipolar adolescents during emotion processing. Brain Imaging Behav. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11682-012-9219-7
- Drevets, W.C., 1997. Response from Drevets. Trends Cogn. Sci. 1, 284–286. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1364-6613%2897%2901095-4
- Drevets, W.C., Price, J.L., Simpson Jr., J.R., Todd, R.D., Reich, T., Vannier, M., Raichle, M.E., 1997. Subgenual prefrontal cortex abnormalities in mood disorders. Nature. https://doi.org/10.1038/386824a0
- Drevets, W.C., Savitz, J., Trimble, M., 2008. The subgenual anterior cingulate cortex in mood disorders. CNS Spectr. 13, 663–81. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08494.Finding
- Dunn, R.T., Willis, M.W., Benson, B.E., Repella, J.D., Kimbrell, T.A., Ketter, T.A., Speer, A.M., Osuch, E.A., Post, R.M., 2005. Preliminary findings of uncoupling of flow and metabolism in unipolar compared with bipolar affective illness and normal controls. Psychiatry Res. - Neuroimaging 140, 181–198. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pscychresns.2005.07.005
- Dye, S.M., Spence, S.A., Bench, C.J., Hirsch, S.R., Stefan, M.D., Sharma, T., Grasby, P.M., 1999. No evidence for left superior temporal dysfunction in asymptomatic schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. PET study of verbal fluency. Br. J. Psychiatry 175, 367–374. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.175.4.367
- Ebert, D., Feistel, H., Barocka, A., Kaschka, W., Mokrusch, T., 1993. A test-retest study of cerebral blood flow during somatosensory stimulation in depressed patients with schizophrenia and major depression. Eur. Arch. Psychiatry Clin. Neurosci. 242, 250–254.
- Emmanouil, D.E., Quock, R.M., 2007. Advances in understanding the actions of nitrous oxide. Anesth. Prog. https://doi.org/10.2344/0003-3006(2007)54[9:AIUTAO]2.0.CO;2
- Endemann, D.H., Schiffrin, E.L., 2004. Endothelial dysfunction. J Am Soc Nephrol 15, 1983–1992. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.ASN.0000132474.50966.DA
- Etkin, A., Egner, T., Kalisch, R., 2011. Emotional processing in anterior cingulate and medial prefrontal cortex. Trends Cogn. Sci. 15, 85–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2010.11.004
- Fantini, S., Sassaroli, A., Tgavalekos, K.T., Kornbluth, J., 2016. Cerebral blood flow and autoregulation: current measurement techniques and prospects for noninvasive optical

methods. Neurophotonics 3, 031411. https://doi.org/10.1117/1.NPh.3.3.031411

Faraci, F.M., Brian, J.E., 1994. Nitric oxide and the cerebral circulation. Stroke 25, 692–703. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.STR.25.3.692

Fiedorowicz, J., 2008. Elevated prevalence of obesity, metabolic syndrome, and cardiovascular risk factors in bipolar disorder. Ann. Clin. ... 20, 131–137. https://doi.org/10.1080/10401230802177722.Elevated

Fiedorowicz, J.G., Coryell, W.H., Rice, J.P., Warren, L.L., Haynes, W.G., 2012. Vasculopathy related to manic/hypomanic symptom burden and first-generation antipsychotics in a sub-sample from the collaborative depression study. Psychother. Psychosom. 81, 235–243. https://doi.org/10.1159/000334779

Fiedorowicz, J.G., Jancic, D., Potash, J.B., Butcher, B., Coryell, W.H., 2014. Vascular Mortality in Participants of a Bipolar Genomics Study. Psychosomatics 55, 485–490. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psym.2014.02.001

Fiedorowicz, J.G., Solomon, D.A., Endicott, J., Leon, A.C., Li, C., Rice, J.P., Coryell, W.H., 2009. Manic/hypomanic symptom burden and cardiovascular mortality in bipolar disorder. Psychosom. Med. 71, 598–606. https://doi.org/10.1097/PSY.0b013e3181acee26

Fischl, B., van der Kouwe, A., Desitrieux, C., Halgren, E., Segonne, F., Salat, D.H., Busa, E., Seidman, L.J., Goldstein, J.M., Kennedy, D., Caviness, V., Makris, N., Rosen, B., Dale, A.M., 2004. Automatically Parcellating the Human Cerebral Cortex. Cereb. Cortex. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhg087

- Fountoulakis, K.N., Giannakopoulos, P., Kövari, E., Bouras, C., 2008. Assessing the role of cingulate cortex in bipolar disorder: Neuropathological, structural and functional imaging data. Brain Res. Rev. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresrev.2008.04.005
- Frazier, J.A., Breeze, J.L., Makris, N., Giuliano, A.S.J., Herbert, M.R., Seidman, L.J., Biederman, J., Hodge, S.M., Dieterich, M.E., Gerstein, E.D., Kennedy, D.N., Rauch, S.L., Cohen, B.M., Caviness, V.S., 2005. Cortical gray matter differences identified by structural magnetic resonance imaging in pediatric bipolar disorder. Bipolar Disord. 7, 555–569. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-5618.2005.00258.x
- Frazier, J.A., Chiu, S., Breeze, J.L., Makris, N., Lange, N., Kennedy, D.N., Herbert, M.R., Bent, E.K., Koneru, V.K., Dieterich, M.E., Hodge, S.M., Rauch, S.L., Grant, P.E., Cohen, B.M., Seidman, L.J., Caviness, V.S., Biederman, J., 2005. Structural brain magnetic resonance imaging of limbic and thalamic volumes in pediatric bipolar disorder. Am. J. Psychiatry 162, 1256–1265. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.162.7.1256
- Frias, A., Palma, C., Farriols, N., 2015. Comorbidity in pediatric bipolar disorder: prevalence, clinical impact, etiology and treatment. J. Affect. Disord. 174, 378–389. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2014.12.008
- Frye, M.A., Prieto, M.L., Bobo, W. V., Kung, S., Veldic, M., Alarcon, R.D., Moore, K.M., Choi, D.S., Biernacka, J.M., Tye, S.J., 2014. Current landscape, unmet needs, and future directions for treatment of bipolar depression. J. Affect. Disord. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-0327(14)70005-9
- Fsl, 2006. FMRIB Software Library [WWW Document]. Univ. Oxford.
- Garrett, A.S., Reiss, A.L., Howe, M.E., Kelley, R.G., Singh, M.K., Adleman, N.E., Karchemskiy, A., Chang, K.D., 2012. Abnormal amygdala and prefrontal cortex activation to facial expressions in pediatric bipolar disorder. J. Am. Acad. Child

Adolesc. Psychiatry. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2012.06.005

- Girouard, H., 2006. Neurovascular coupling in the normal brain and in hypertension, stroke, and Alzheimer disease. J. Appl. Physiol. 100, 328–335. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00966.2005
- Gogtay, N., Giedd, J.N., Lusk, L., Hayashi, K.M., Greenstein, D., Vaituzis, A.C., Nugent 3rd, T.F., Herman, D.H., Clasen, L.S., Toga, A.W., Rapoport, J.L., Thompson, P.M., 2004. Dynamic mapping of human cortical development during childhood through early adulthood. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101, 8174–8179. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0402680101
- Gogtay, N., Ordonez, A., Herman, D.H., Hayashi, K.M., Greenstein, D., Vaituzis, C., Lenane, M., Clasen, L., Sharp, W., Giedd, J.N., Jung, D., Nugent Iii, T.F., Toga, A.W., Leibenluft, E., Thompson, P.M., Rapoport, J.L., 2007. Dynamic mapping of cortical development before and after the onset of pediatric bipolar illness. J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry Allied Discip. 48, 852–862. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2007.01747.x
- Goldstein, B.I., 2017. Bipolar Disorder and the Vascular System: Mechanisms and New Prevention Opportunities. Can. J. Cardiol. 33, 1565–1576. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cjca.2017.10.006
- Goldstein, B.I., Carnethon, M.R., Matthews, K.A., McIntyre, R.S., Miller, G.E., Raghuveer, G., Stoney, C.M., Wasiak, H., McCrindle, B.W., 2015a. Major Depressive Disorder and Bipolar Disorder Predispose Youth to Accelerated Atherosclerosis and Early Cardiovascular Disease: A Scientific Statement from the American Heart Association. Circulation 132, 965–986. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIR.00000000000229
- Goldstein, B.I., Fagiolini, A., Houck, P., Kupfer, D.J., 2009. Cardiovascular disease and hypertension among adults with bipolar I disorder in the United States. Bipolar Disord. 11, 657–662. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-5618.2009.00735.x
- Goldstein, B.I., Kemp, D.E., Soczynska, J.K., McIntyre, R.S., 2009. Inflammation and the phenomenology, pathophysiology, comorbidity, and treatment of bipolar disorder: a systematic review of the literature. J. Clin. Psychiatry 70, 1078–1090. https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.08r04505
- Goldstein, B.I., Levitt, A.J., 2006. Further evidence for a developmental subtype of bipolar disorder defined by age at onset: Results from the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions. Am. J. Psychiatry. https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.2006.163.9.1633
- Goldstein, B.I., Schaffer, A., Wang, S., Blanco, C., 2015b. Excessive and premature newonset cardiovascular disease among adults with bipolar disorder in the US NESARC cohort. J. Clin. Psychiatry 76, 163–169. https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.14m09300
- Goodwin, G.M., Cavanagh, J.T., Glabus, M., Kehoe, R.F., O'Carroll, R.E., Ebmeier, K.P., 1997. Uptake of 99m TcExametazime shown by single photon emission computerised tomography before and after lithium withdrawal in bipolar patients: associations with mania. Br J Psychiatry 170, 426–430. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.170.5.426
- Granger, D.N., Rodrigues, S.F., Yildirim, A., Senchenkova, E.Y., 2010. Microvascular responses to cardiovascular risk factors. Microcirculation. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1549-8719.2009.00015.x
- Gunde, E., Blagdon, R., Hajek, T., 2011. White matter hyperintensities from medical comorbidities to bipolar disorders and back. Ann. Med.

https://doi.org/10.3109/07853890.2011.595733

- Gyulai, F.E., Firestone, L.L., Mintun, M.A., Winter, P.M., 1996. In vivo imaging of human limbic responses to nitrous oxide inhalation. Anesth. Analg. https://doi.org/10.1097/00000539-199608000-00016
- Gyulai, L., Alavi, A., Broich, K., Reilley, J., Ball, W.B., Whybrow, P.C., 1997. I-123 iofetamine single-photon computed emission tomography in rapid cycling bipolar disorder: A clinical study. Biol. Psychiatry 41, 152–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3223(96)00002-9
- Hajek\*, T., Gunde, E., Bernier, D., Slaney, C., Propper, L., Grof, P., 2008. Subgenual cingulate volumes in affected and unaffected offspring of bipolar parents. J. Affect. Disord. 107, S76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2007.12.053
- Hajek, T., Kozeny, J., Kopecek, M., Alda, M., Höschl, C., 2008. Reduced subgenual cingulate volumes in mood disorders: A meta-analysis. J. Psychiatry Neurosci. 33, 91– 99.
- Handley, R., Zelaya, F.O., Reinders, A.A.T.S., Marques, T.R., Mehta, M.A., O'Gorman, R., Alsop, D.C., Taylor, H., Johnston, A., Williams, S., Mcguire, P., Pariante, C.M., Kapur, S., Dazzan, P., 2013. Acute effects of single-dose aripiprazole and haloperidol on resting cerebral blood flow (rCBF) in the human brain. Hum. Brain Mapp. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.21436
- Hanford, L.C., Nazarov, A., Hall, G.B., Sassi, R.B., 2016. Cortical thickness in bipolar disorder: A systematic review. Bipolar Disord. 18, 4–18. https://doi.org/10.1111/bdi.12362
- Hawkins, P.C.T., Wood, T.C., Vernon, A.C., Bertolino, A., Sambataro, F., Dukart, J., Merlo-Pich, E., Risterucci, C., Silber-Baumann, H., Walsh, E., Mazibuko, N., Zelaya, F.O., Mehta, M.A., 2018. An investigation of regional cerebral blood flow and tissue structure changes after acute administration of antipsychotics in healthy male volunteers. Hum. Brain Mapp. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.23844
- Hawton, K., Sutton, L., Haw, C., Sinclair, J., Harriss, L., 2005. Suicide and attempted suicide in bipolar disorder: a systematic review of risk factors. J. Clin. Psychiatry 66, 693–704. https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.v66n0604
- Herscovitch, P., Markham, J., Raichle, M.E., 1983. Brain blood flow measured with intravenous H2(15)O. I. Theory and error analysis. J. Nucl. Med. 24, 782–9.
- Hibar, D.P., Westlye, L.T., Doan, N.T., Jahanshad, N., Cheung, J.W., Ching, C.R.K., Versace, A., Bilderbeck, A.C., Uhlmann, A., Mwangi, B., Krämer, B., Overs, B., Hartberg, C.B., Abé, C., Dima, D., Grotegerd, D., Sprooten, E., Bøen, E., Jimenez, E., Howells, F.M., Delvecchio, G., Temmingh, H., Starke, J., Almeida, J.R.C., Goikolea, J.M., Houenou, J., Beard, L.M., Rauer, L., Abramovic, L., Bonnin, M., Ponteduro, M.F., Keil, M., Rive, M.M., Yao, N., Yalin, N., Najt, P., Rosa, P.G., Redlich, R., Trost, S., Hagenaars, S., Fears, S.C., Alonso-Lana, S., van Erp, T.G.M., Nickson, T., Chaim-Avancini, T.M., Meier, T.B., Elvsåshagen, T., Haukvik, U.K., Lee, W.H., Schene, A.H., Lloyd, A.J., Young, A.H., Nugent, A., Dale, A.M., Pfennig, A., McIntosh, A.M., Lafer, B., Baune, B.T., Ekman, C.J., Zarate, C.A., Bearden, C.E., Henry, C., Simhandl, C., McDonald, C., Bourne, C., Stein, D.J., Wolf, D.H., Cannon, D.M., Glahn, D.C., Veltman, D.J., Pomarol-Clotet, E., Vieta, E., Canales-Rodriguez, E.J., Nery, F.G., Duran, F.L.S., Busatto, G.F., Roberts, G., Pearlson, G.D., Goodwin, G.M., Kugel, H., Whalley, H.C., Ruhe, H.G., Soares, J.C., Fullerton, J.M.,

Rybakowski, J.K., Savitz, J., Chaim, K.T., Fatjó-Vilas, M., Soeiro-de-Souza, M.G., Boks, M.P., Zanetti, M. V, Otaduy, M.C.G., Schaufelberger, M.S., Alda, M., Ingvar, M., Phillips, M.L., Kempton, M.J., Bauer, M., Landén, M., Lawrence, N.S., van Haren, N.E.M., Horn, N.R., Freimer, N.B., Gruber, O., Schofield, P.R., Mitchell, P.B., Kahn, R.S., Lenroot, R., Machado-Vieira, R., Ophoff, R.A., Sarró, S., Frangou, S., Satterthwaite, T.D., Hajek, T., Dannlowski, U., Malt, U.F., Arolt, V., Gattaz, W.F., Drevets, W.C., Caseras, X., Agartz, I., Thompson, P.M., Andreassen, O.A., 2017. Cortical abnormalities in bipolar disorder: an MRI analysis of 6503 individuals from the ENIGMA Bipolar Disorder Working Group. Mol. Psychiatry 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2017.73

- Higashi, Y., Noma, K., Yoshizumi, M., Kihara, Y., 2009. Endothelial function and oxidative stress in cardiovascular diseases. Circ J 73, 411–418. https://doi.org/JST.JSTAGE/circj/CJ-08-1102 [pii]
- Hirayasu, Y., Shenton, M.E., Salisbury, D.F., Kwon, J.S., Wible, C.G., Fischer, I.A., Yurgelun-Todd, D., Zarate, C., Kikinis, R., Jolesz, F.A., McCarley, R.W., 1999.
  Subgenual cingulate cortex volume in first-episode psychosis. Am. J. Psychiatry 156, 1091–1093. https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.156.7.1091
- Ho, T.C., Wu, J., Shin, D.D., Liu, T.T., Tapert, S.F., Yang, G., Connolly, C.G., Frank, G.K.W., Max, J.E., Wolkowitz, O., Eisendrath, S., Hoeft, F., Banerjee, D., Hood, K., Hendren, R.L., Paulus, M.P., Simmons, A.N., Yang, T.T., 2013. Altered cerebral perfusion in executive, affective, and motor networks during adolescent depression. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2013.07.008
- Hoge, R.D., Atkinson, J., Gill, B., Crelier, G.R., Marrett, S., Pike, G.B., 1999. Linear coupling between cerebral blood flow and oxygen consumption in activated human cortex. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 96, 9403–9408. https://doi.org/VL 96

- Hummer, T.A., Hulvershorn, L.A., Karne, H.S., Gunn, A.D., Wang, Y., Anand, A., 2013. Emotional response inhibition in bipolar disorder: A functional magnetic resonance imaging study of trait- and state-related abnormalities. Biol. Psychiatry 73, 136–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2012.06.036
- Iadecola, C., 2017. The Neurovascular Unit Coming of Age: A Journey through Neurovascular Coupling in Health and Disease. Neuron. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2017.07.030
- Iadecola, C., 2004. Neurovascular regulation in the normal brain and in Alzheimer's disease. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 5, 347–360. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn1387
- Inoue, K., Ito, H., Goto, R., Nakagawa, M., Kinomura, S., Sato, T., Sato, K., Fukuda, H., 2005. Apparent CBF decrease with normal aging due to partial volume effects: MRbased partial volume correction on CBF SPECT. Ann. Nucl. Med. 19, 283–290. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02984620
- Ito, H., Kawashima, R., Awata, S., Ono, S., Sato, K., Goto, R., Koyama, M., Sato, M., Fukuda, H., 1996. Hypoperfusion in the limbic system and prefrontal cortex in depression: SPECT with anatomic standardization technique. J. Nucl. Med. 37, 410– 414.
- Javadapour, A., Malhi, G.S., Ivanovski, B., Chen, X., Wen, W., Sachdev, P., 2007. Increased anterior cingulate cortex volume in bipolar I disorder. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 41, 910–916. https://doi.org/10.1080/00048670701634978

Hollingshead, A., 1975. Four factor index of social status. Yale J. Sociol.

- Jenkinson, M., Bannister, P., Brady, M., Smith, S., 2002. Improved optimisation for the robust and accurate linear registration and motion correction of brain images. Neuroimage 17, 825–841. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1053-8119(02)91132-8
- Jenkinson, M., Beckmann, C.F., Behrens, T.E.J., Woolrich, M.W., Smith, S.M., 2012. FSL Review. Neuroimage. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.09.015
- Jenkinson, M., Smith, S., 2001. A global optimisation method for robust affine registration of brain images. Med. Image Anal. 5, 143–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1361-8415(01)00036-6
- Jennings, J.R., Heim, A.F., Kuan, D.C.-H., Gianaros, P.J., Muldoon, M.F., Manuck, S.B., 2013. Use of total cerebral blood flow as an imaging biomarker of known cardiovascular risks. Stroke 44, 2480–5. https://doi.org/10.1161/STROKEAHA.113.001716
- Johannessen, L., Strudsholm, U., Foldager, L., Munk-Jorgensen, P., 2006. Increased risk of hypertension in patients with bipolar disorder and patients with anxiety compared to background population and patients with schizophrenia. J. Affect. Disord. 95, 13–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2006.03.027
- Judd, L.L., Akiskal, H.S., 2003. The prevalence and disability of bipolar spectrum disorders in the US population: Re-analysis of the ECA database taking into account subthreshold cases. J. Affect. Disord. 73, 123–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-0327(02)00332-4
- Judd, L.L., Akiskal, H.S., Schettler, P.J., Endicott, J., Leon, A.C., Solomon, D.A., Coryell, W., Maser, J.D., Keller, M.B., 2005. Psychosocial disability in the course of bipolar I and II disorders: a prospective, comparative, longitudinal study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 62, 1322–1330. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.62.12.1322
- Judd, L.L., Schettler, P.J., Akiskal, H.S., Maser, J., Coryell, W., Solomon, D., Endicott, J., Keller, M., 2003. Long-term symptomatic status of bipolar I vs. bipolar II disorders. Int. J. Neuropsychopharmacol. 6, 127–137. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1461145703003341
- Juni, J.E., Waxman, A.D., Devous, M.D., Tikofsky, R.S., Ichise, M., Van Heertum, R.L., Carretta, R.F., Chen, C.C., 2009. Procedure Guideline for Brain Perfusion SPECT Using 99mTc Radiopharmaceuticals 3.0. J. Nucl. Med. Technol. 37, 191–195. https://doi.org/10.2967/jnmt.109.067850
- Kaczkurkin, A.N., Moore, T.M., Calkins, M.E., Ciric, R., Detre, J.A., Elliott, M.A., Foa, E.B., Garcia de la Garza, A., Roalf, D.R., Rosen, A., Ruparel, K., Shinohara, R.T., Xia, C.H., Wolf, D.H., Gur, R.E., Gur, R.C., Satterthwaite, T.D., 2017. Common and dissociable regional cerebral blood flow differences associate with dimensions of psychopathology across categorical diagnoses. Mol. Psychiatry. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2017.174
- Kaczkurkin, A.N., Moore, T.M., Ruparel, K., Ciric, R., Calkins, M.E., Shinohara, R.T., Elliott, M.A., Hopson, R., Roalf, D.R., Vandekar, S.N., Gennatas, E.D., Wolf, D.H., Scott, J.C., Pine, D.S., Leibenluft, E., Detre, J.A., Foa, E.B., Gur, R.E., Gur, R.C., Satterthwaite, T.D., 2016. Elevated Amygdala Perfusion Mediates Developmental Sex Differences in Trait Anxiety. Biol. Psychiatry. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2016.04.021
- Kaichi, Y., Okada, G., Takamura, M., Toki, S., Akiyama, Y., Higaki, T., Matsubara, Y., Okamoto, Y., Yamawaki, S., Awai, K., 2016. Changes in the regional cerebral blood

flow detected by arterial spin labeling after 6-week escitalopram treatment for major depressive disorder. J. Affect. Disord. 194, 135–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2015.12.062

- Kann, O., Kovács, R., 2006. Mitochondria and neuronal activity. Am. J. Physiol. Physiol. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpcell.00222.2006
- Kato, T., Kato, N., 2003. Mitochondrial dysfunction in bipolar disorder. Bipolar Disord. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1399-5618.2000.020305.x
- Kaufman J, Birmaher B, Brent D, Rao U, Flynn C, Moreci P, et al, 1997. Schedule for Affective Disorders and Schizophrenia for School-Age Children-Present and Lifetime Version (K-SADS-PL): initial reliability and validity data. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 7, 980–988.
- Kaur, S., Sassi, R.B., Axelson, D., Nicoletti, M., Brambilla, P., Monkul, E.S., Hatch, J.P., Keshavan, M.S., Ryan, N., Birmaher, B., Soares, J.C., 2005. Cingulate cortex anatomical abnormalities in children and adolescents with bipolar disorder. Am J Psychiatry 162, 1637–1643. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.162.9.1637
- Keller, M.B., Lavori, P.W., Friedman, B., Nielsen, E., Endicott, J., Mcdonald Scott, P., Andreasen, N.C., 1987. The Longitudinal Interval Follow-up Evaluation: A Comprehensive Method for Assessing Outcome in Prospective Longitudinal Studies. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.1987.01800180050009
- Kelley, R., Chang, K.D., Garrett, A., Alegría, D., Thompson, P., Howe, M., L Reiss, A., 2013. Deformations of amygdala morphology in familial pediatric bipolar disorder. Bipolar Disord. 15, 795–802. https://doi.org/10.1111/bdi.12114
- Kermani, P., Hempstead, B., 2007. Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor: A Newly Described Mediator of Angiogenesis. Trends Cardiovasc. Med. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcm.2007.03.002
- Kessler, R.C., Chiu, W.T., Demler, O., Walters, E.E., 2005. Prevalence, Severity, and Comorbidity of Twelve-month DSM-IV Disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication (NCS- R). Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 62, 617–627. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.62.6.617
- Ketter, T.A., Kimbrell, T.A., George, M.S., Dunn, R.T., Speer, A.M., Benson, B.E., Willis, M.W., Danielson, A., Frye, M.A., Herscovitch, P., Post, R.M., 2001. Effects of mood and subtype on cerebral glucose metabolism in treatment-resistant bipolar disorder. Biol. Psychiatry. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3223(00)00975-6
- Kilbourne, A.M., Cornelius, J.R., Han, X., Pincus, H.A., Shad, M., Salloum, I., Conigliaro, J., Haas, G.L., 2004. Burden of general medical conditions among individuals with bipolar disorder. Bipolar Disord. 6, 368–373. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-5618.2004.00138.x
- Kim, Y.-W., West, X.Z., Byzova, T. V, 2013. Inflammation and oxidative stress in angiogenesis and vascular disease. J. Mol. Med. (Berl). 91, 323–8. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00109-013-1007-3
- Kraepelin, E., 1921. Manic-Depressive Insanity and Paranoia. E.S. Livingstone, Edinburgh, Scotland.
- Krüger, S., Alda, M., Young, L.T., Goldapple, K., Parikh, S., Mayberg, H.S., 2006. Risk and resilience markers in bipolar disorder: Brain responses to emotional challenge in bipolar patients and their healthy siblings. Am. J. Psychiatry 163, 257–264. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.163.2.257

- Krüger, S., Seminowicz, D., Goldapple, K., Kennedy, S.H., Mayberg, H.S., 2003. State and trait influences on mood regulation in bipolar disorder: Blood flow differences with an acute mood challenge. Biol. Psychiatry 54, 1274–1283. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3223(03)00691-7
- Kupka, R.W., Altshuler, L.L., Nolen, W.A., Suppes, T., Luckenbaugh, D.A., Leverich, G.S., Frye, M.A., Keck, P.E., Mcelroy, S.L., Grunze, H., Post, R.M., 2007. Three times more days depressed than manic or hypomanic in both bipolar I and bipolar II disorder. Bipolar Disord. 9, 531–535. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-5618.2007.00467.x
- Kurtz, M.M., Gerraty, R.T., 2009. A Meta-Analytic Investigation of Neurocognitive Deficits in Bipolar Illness: Profile and Effects of Clinical State. Neuropsychology 23, 551–562. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0016277
- Leboyer, M., Soreca, I., Scott, J., Frye, M., Henry, C., Tamouza, R., Kupfer, D.J., 2012. Can bipolar disorder be viewed as a multi-system inflammatory disease? J. Affect. Disord. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2011.12.049
- Leenders, K.L., Perani, D., Lammertsma, A.A., Heather, J.D., Buckingham, P., Healy, M.J., Gibbs, J.M., Wise, R.J., Hatazawa, J., Herold, S., 1990. Cerebral blood flow, blood volume and oxygen utilization. Normal values and effect of age. Brain 113 (Pt 1, 27– 47. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/113.1.27
- Leoni, R.F., Oliveira, I.A.F., Pontes-Neto, O.M., Santos, A.C., Leite, J.P., 2017. Cerebral blood flow and vasoreactivity in aging: an arterial spin labeling study. Brazilian J. Med. Biol. Res. 50. https://doi.org/10.1590/1414-431x20175670
- Lewinsohn, P.M., Klein, D.N., Seeley, J.R., 1995. Bipolar disorders in a community sample of older adolescents: prevalence, phenomenology, comorbidity, and course. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 34, 454–63. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-199504000-00012
- Liau, J., Perthen, J.E., Liu, T.T., 2008. Caffeine reduces the activation extent and contrastto-noise ratio of the functional cerebral blood flow response but not the BOLD response. Neuroimage. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.04.177
- Liddle, P.F., Friston, K.J., Frith, C.D., Hirsch, S.R., Jones, T., Frackowiak, R.S.J., 1992. Patterns of cerebral blood flow in schizophrenia. Br. J. Psychiatry 160, 179–186. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.160.2.179
- Liu, F., Zhuo, C., Yu, C., 2016. Altered cerebral blood flow covariance network in schizophrenia. Front. Neurosci. 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2016.00308
- Liu, T.T., Brown, G.G., 2007. Measurement of cerebral perfusion with arterial spin labeling: Part 1. Methods. J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc. 13, 517–525. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617707070646
- Liu, Y., Sun, L., Huan, Y., Zhao, H., Deng, J., 2006. Application of bFGF and BDNF to Improve Angiogenesis and Cardiac Function. J. Surg. Res. 136, 85–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jss.2006.04.034
- Loeber, R.T., Sherwood, A.R., Renshaw, P.F., Cohen, B.M., Yurgelun-todd, D.A., 1999. Differences in cerebellar blood volume in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder i, 81–89.
- Lui, S., Parkes, L.M., Huang, X., Zou, K., Chan, R.C.K., Yang, H., Zou, L., Li, D., Tang, H., Zhang, T., Li, X., Wei, Y., Chen, L., Sun, X., Kemp, G.J., Gong, Q.-Y., 2009. Depressive Disorders: Focally Altered Cerebral Perfusion Measured with Arterial Spin-labeling MR Imaging. Radiology. https://doi.org/10.1148/radiol.2512081548

- MacIntosh, B.J., Shirzadi, Z., Scavone, A., Metcalfe, A.W., Islam, A.H., Korczak, D., Goldstein, B.I., 2017. Increased cerebral blood flow among adolescents with bipolar disorder at rest is reduced following acute aerobic exercise. J. Affect. Disord. 208, 205–213. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2016.08.060
- Malhi, G.S., Ivanovski, B., Hadzi-Pavlovic, D., Mitchell, P.B., Vieta, E., Sachdev, P., 2007. Neuropsychological deficits and functional impairment in bipolar depression, hypomania and euthymia. Bipolar Disord. 9, 114–125. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-5618.2007.00324.x
- Malhi, G.S., Lagopoulos, J., Ward, P.B., Kumari, V., Mitchell, P.B., Parker, G.B., Ivanovski, B., Sachdev, P., 2004. Cognitive generation of affect in bipolar depression: An fMRI study. Eur. J. Neurosci. 19, 741–754. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0953-816X.2003.03159.x
- Mansur, R.B., Cha, D.S., Asevedo, E., McIntyre, R.S., Brietzke, E., 2013. Selfish brain and neuroprogression in bipolar disorder. Prog. Neuro-Psychopharmacology Biol. Psychiatry. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2012.12.004
- McCarty, M.F., O'Keefe, J.H., DiNicolantonio, J.J., 2016. Pentoxifylline for vascular health: a brief review of the literature. Open Hear. https://doi.org/10.1136/openhrt-2015-000365
- Meltzer, C.C., Cantwell, M.N., Greer, P.J., Ben-Eliezer, D., Smith, G., Frank, G., Kaye, W.H., Houck, P.R., Price, J.C., 2000. Does cerebral blood flow decline in healthy aging? A PET study with partial-volume correction. J. Nucl. Med. 41, 1842–1848.
- Merikangas, K.R., He, J.-P., Burstein, M., Swanson, S.A., Avenevoli, S., Cui, L., Benjet, C., Georgiades, K., Swendsen, J., 2010. Lifetime prevalence of mental disorders in U.S. adolescents: Results from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication--Adolescent Supplement (NCS-A). J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 49, 980–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2010.05.017
- Merikangas, K.R., Nakamura, E.F., Kessler, R.C., 2009. Epidemiology of mental disorders in children and adolescents. Dialogues Clin. Neurosci. https://doi.org/10.2964/jsik.kuni0223
- Metcalfe, A.W.S., MacIntosh, B.J., Scavone, A., Ou, X., Korczak, D., Goldstein, B.I., 2016. Effects of acute aerobic exercise on neural correlates of attention and inhibition in adolescents with bipolar disorder. Transl. Psychiatry 6, e814. https://doi.org/10.1038/tp.2016.85
- Migliorelli, R., Starkstein, S.E., Teson, A., de Quiros, G., Vazquez, S., Leiguarda, R., Robinson, R.G., 1993. SPECT findings in patients with primary mania. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci. https://doi.org/10.1176/jnp.5.4.379
- Mohanty, A., Engels, A.S., Herrington, J.D., Heller, W., Ringo Ho, M.H., Banich, M.T., Webb, A.G., Warren, S.L., Miller, G.A., 2007. Differential engagement of anterior cingulate cortex subdivisions for cognitive and emotional function. Psychophysiology 44, 343–351. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8986.2007.00515.x
- Monkul, E.S., Malhi, G.S., Soares, J.C., 2005. Anatomical MRI abnormalities in bipolar disorder: Do they exist and do they progress? Aust. N. Z. J. Psychiatry. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1614.2005.01571.x
- Muller, G., Goettsch, C., Morawietz, H., 2007. Oxidative stress and endothelial dysfunction. Hamostaseologie 27, 5–12. https://doi.org/07010005 [pii]
- Muller, M., Van Der Graaf, Y., Visseren, F.L., Mali, W.P.T.M., Geerlings, M.I., 2012.

Hypertension and longitudinal changes in cerebral blood flow: The SMART-MR study. Ann. Neurol. 71, 825–833. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.23554

- Nagele, P., Zorumski, C.F., Conway, C., 2018. Exploring Nitrous Oxide as Treatment of Mood Disorders: Basic Concepts. J. Clin. Psychopharmacol. https://doi.org/10.1097/JCP.00000000000837
- Najt, P., Wang, F., Spencer, L., Johnston, J.A.Y., Cox Lippard, E.T., Pittman, B.P., Lacadie, C., Staib, L.H., Papademetris, X., Blumberg, H.P., 2016. Anterior cortical development during adolescence in bipolar disorder. Biol. Psychiatry 79, 303–310. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.03.026
- Narumoto, J., Okada, T., Sadato, N., Fukui, K., Yonekura, Y., 2001. Attention to emotion modulates fMRI activity in human right superior temporal sulcus. Cogn. Brain Res. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0926-6410(01)00053-2
- Østergaard, L., Aamand, R., Gutiérrez-Jiménez, E., Ho, Y.C.L., Blicher, J.U., Madsen, S.M., Nagenthiraja, K., Dalby, R.B., Drasbek, K.R., Møller, A., Brændgaard, H., Mouridsen, K., Jespersen, S.N., Jensen, M.S., West, M.J., 2013. The capillary dysfunction hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol. Aging. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2012.09.011
- Pagani, M., Gardner, A., Salmaso, D., Sánchez Crespo, A., Jonsson, C., Jacobsson, H., Lindberg, G., Wägner, A., Hällström, T., Larsson, S.A., 2004. Principal component and volume of interest analyses in depressed patients imaged by 99mTc-HMPAO SPET: A methodological comparison. Eur. J. Nucl. Med. Mol. Imaging. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00259-004-1457-5
- Pase, M.P., Grima, N. a, Stough, C.K., Scholey, A., Pipingas, A., 2012. Cardiovascular disease risk and cerebral blood flow velocity. Stroke. 43, 2803–5. https://doi.org/10.1161/STROKEAHA.112.666727
- Paulson, O.B., Hasselbalch, S.G., Rostrup, E., Knudsen, G.M., Pelligrino, D., 2009. Cerebral blood flow response to functional activation. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 30, 2–14. https://doi.org/10.1038/jcbfm.2009.188
- Pavuluri, M., Passarotti, A., 2012. P-197 Risperidone and divalproex influence brain function networks in pediatric mania. Eur. Psychiatry. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0924-9338(12)74364-X LK -

http://sfx.library.uu.nl/utrecht?sid=EMBASE&issn=09249338&id=doi:10.1016%2FS0 924-9338%2812%2974364-

X&atitle=Risperidone+and+divalproex+influence+brain+function+networks+in+pedia tric+mania&stitle=Eur.+Psychiatry&title=European+Psychiatry&volume=27&issue= &spage=&epage=&aulast=Pavuluri&aufirst=M.&auinit=M.&aufull=Pavuluri+M.&co den=&isbn=&pages=-&date=2012&auinit1=M&auinitm=

- Pavuluri, M.N., O'Connor, M.M., Harral, E., Sweeney, J.A., 2007. Affective Neural Circuitry During Facial Emotion Processing in Pediatric Bipolar Disorder. Biol. Psychiatry. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.07.011
- Perlis, R.H., Dennehy, E.B., Miklowitz, D.J., Delbello, M.P., Ostacher, M., Calabrese, J.R., Ametrano, R.M., Wisniewski, S.R., Bowden, C.L., Thase, M.E., Nierenberg, A.A., Sachs, G., 2009. Retrospective age at onset of bipolar disorder and outcome during two-year follow-up: Results from the STEP-BD study. Bipolar Disord. 11, 391–400. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-5618.2009.00686.x
- Perlis, R.H., Miyahara, S., Marangell, L.B., Wisniewski, S.R., Ostacher, M., DelBello,

M.P., Bowden, C.L., Sachs, G.S., Nierenberg, A.A., 2004. Long-term implications of early onset in bipolar disorder: Data from the first 1000 participants in the Systematic Treatment Enhancement Program for Bipolar Disorder (STEP-BD). Biol. Psychiatry 55, 875–881. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2004.01.022

- Perlman, S.B., Almeida, J.R.C., Kronhaus, D.M., Versace, A., Labarbara, E.J., Klein, C.R., Phillips, M.L., 2012. Amygdala activity and prefrontal cortex-amygdala effective connectivity to emerging emotional faces distinguish remitted and depressed mood states in bipolar disorder. Bipolar Disord. 14, 162–174. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-5618.2012.00999.x
- Peters, B.D., Szeszko, P.R., Radua, J., Ikuta, T., Gruner, P., Derosse, P., Zhang, J.P., Giorgio, A., Qiu, D., Tapert, S.F., Brauer, J., Asato, M.R., Khong, P.L., James, A.C., Gallego, J.A., Malhotra, A.K., 2012. White matter development in adolescence: Diffusion tensor imaging and meta-analytic results. Schizophr. Bull. https://doi.org/10.1093/schbul/sbs054
- Peterson, E.C., Wang, Z., Britz, G., 2011. Regulation of cerebral blood flow. Int. J. Vasc. Med. https://doi.org/10.1155/2011/823525
- Pezawas, L., Meyer-Lindenberg, A., Goldman, A.L., Verchinski, B.A., Chen, G., Kolachana, B.S., Egan, M.F., Mattay, V.S., Hariri, A.R., Weinberger, D.R., 2008.
  Evidence of biologic epistasis between BDNF and SLC6A4 and implications for depression. Mol. Psychiatry 13, 709–716. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2008.32
- Pfeifer, J.C., Welge, J., Strakowski, S.M., Adler, C., Delbello, M.P., 2008. Meta-Analysis of Amygdala Volumes in Children and Adolescents With Bipolar Disorder. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 47, 1289–1298. https://doi.org/10.1097/CHI.0b013e318185d299
- Phillips, M.L., Swartz, H.A., 2014. A critical appraisal of neuroimaging studies of bipolar disorder: Toward a new conceptualization of underlying neural circuitry and a road map for future research. Am. J. Psychiatry. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2014.13081008
- Post, R.M., Denicoff, K.D., Leverich, G.S., Altshuler, L.L., Frye, M.A., Suppes, T.M., Rush, A.J., Keck, P.E., McElroy, S.L., Luckenbaugh, D.A., Pollio, C., Kupka, R., Nolen, W.A., 2003. Morbidity in 258 bipolar outpatients followed for 1 year with daily prospective ratings on the NIMH Life Chart Method. J. Clin. Psychiatry 64, 680–690. https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.v64n0610
- Post, R.M., Leverich, G.S., Kupka, R.W., Keck, P.E., McElroy, S.L., Altshuler, L.L., Frye, M.A., Luckenbaugh, D.A., Rowe, M., Grunze, H., Suppes, T., Nolen, W.A., 2010. Early-onset bipolar disorder and treatment delay are risk factors for poor outcome in adulthood. J. Clin. Psychiatry. https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.08m04994yel
- Raichle, M.E., Martin, W.R., Herscovitch, P., Mintun, M.A., Markham, J., 1983. Brain blood flow measured with intravenous H2 15O. II. Implementation and validation. J. Nucl. Med. 24, 790–798.
- Richieri, R., Boyer, L., Farisse, J., Colavolpe, C., Mundler, O., Lancon, C., Guedj, E., 2011. Predictive value of brain perfusion SPECT for rTMS response in pharmacoresistant depression. Eur. J. Nucl. Med. Mol. Imaging. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00259-011-1850-9
- Robins, D.L., Hunyadi, E., Schultz, R.T., 2009. Superior temporal activation in response to dynamic audio-visual emotional cues. Brain Cogn.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandc.2008.08.007

- Rosenblat, J.D., McIntyre, R.S., 2016. Bipolar Disorder and Inflammation. Psychiatr. Clin. North Am. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psc.2015.09.006
- Rubin, E., Sackeim, H.A., Prohovnik, I., Moeller, J.R., Schnur, D.B., Mukherjee, S., 1995. Regional cerebral blood flow in mood disorders: IV. Comparison of mania and depression. Psychiatry Res. Neuroimaging 61, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/0925-4927(95)02594-N
- Rubinsztein, J.S., Fletcher, P.C., Rogers, R.D., Ho, L.W., Aigbirhio, F.I., Paykel, E.S., Robbins, T.W., Sahakian, B.J., 2001. Decision-making in mania: a PET study. Brain 124, 2550–2563. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/124.12.2550
- Rybakowski, J.K., Wykretowicz, A., Heymann-Szlachcinska, A., Wysocki, H., 2006. Impairment of Endothelial Function in Unipolar and Bipolar Depression. Biol. Psychiatry 60, 889–891. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.03.025
- Sanganahalli, B.G., Herman, P., Hyder, F., Kannurpatti, S.S., 2013. Mitochondrial Functional State Impacts Spontaneous Neocortical Activity and Resting State fMRI. PLoS One. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0063317
- Satterthwaite, T.D., Shinohara, R.T., Wolf, D.H., Hopson, R.D., Elliott, M.A., Vandekar, S.N., Ruparel, K., Calkins, M.E., Roalf, D.R., Gennatas, E.D., Jackson, C., Erus, G., Prabhakaran, K., Davatzikos, C., Detre, J.A., Hakonarson, H., Gur, R.C., Gur, R.E., 2014. Impact of puberty on the evolution of cerebral perfusion during adolescence. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 111, 8643–8648. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1400178111
- Shaffer, J.J., Johnson, C.P., Fiedorowicz, J.G., Christensen, G.E., Wemmie, J.A., Magnotta, V.A., 2017. Impaired sensory processing measured by functional MRI in Bipolar disorder manic and depressed mood states. Brain Imaging Behav. 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11682-017-9741-8
- Shaw, T.G., Mortel, K.F., Meyer, J.S., Rogers, R.L., Hardenberg, J., Cutaia, M.M., 1984. Cerebral blood flow changes in benign aging and cerebrovascular disease. Neurology 34, 855–862. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.34.7.855
- Shi, X.F., Kondo, D.G., Sung, Y.H., Hellem, T.L., Fiedler, K.K., Jeong, E.K., Huber, R.S., Renshaw, P.F., 2012. Frontal lobe bioenergetic metabolism in depressed adolescents with bipolar disorder: A phosphorus-31 magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. Bipolar Disord. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-5618.2012.01040.x
- Shi, Y., Thrippleton, M.J., Makin, S.D., Marshall, I., Geerlings, M.I., de Craen, A.J., van Buchem, M.A., Wardlaw, J.M., 2016. Cerebral blood flow in small vessel disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 36, 1653–1667. https://doi.org/10.1177/0271678X16662891
- Shirzadi, Z., Crane, D.E., Robertson, A.D., Maralani, P.J., Aviv, R.I., Chappell, M.A., Goldstein, B.I., Black, S.E., MacIntosh, B.J., 2015. Automated removal of spurious intermediate cerebral blood flow volumes improves image quality among older patients: A clinical arterial spin labeling investigation. J. Magn. Reson. Imaging 42, 1377–1385. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jmri.24918
- Silfverskiöld, P., Risberg, J., 1989. Regional cerebral blood flow in depression and mania. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 46, 253–9.
- Simon, G.E., Bauer, M.S., Ludman, E.J., Operskalski, B.H., Unützer, J., 2007. Mood symptoms, functional impairment, and disability in people with bipolar disorder: Specific effects of mania and depression. J. Clin. Psychiatry 68, 1237–1245.
- Siti, H.N., Kamisah, Y., Kamsiah, J., 2015. The role of oxidative stress, antioxidants and vascular inflammation in cardiovascular disease (a review). Vascul. Pharmacol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vph.2015.03.005
- Smith, L.A., Melbourne, A., Owen, D., Cardoso, M.J., Sudre, C.H., Tillin, T., Sokolska, M., Atkinson, D., Chaturvedi, N., Ourselin, S., Hughes, A.D., Barkhof, F., Jäger, H.R., 2019. Cortical cerebral blood flow in ageing: effects of haematocrit, sex, ethnicity and diabetes. Eur. Radiol. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00330-019-06096-w
- Smith, S.M., 2002. Fast robust automated brain extraction. Hum. Brain Mapp. 17, 143–155. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.10062
- Sosic-Vasic, Z., Abler, B., Grön, G., Plener, P., Straub, J., 2017. Effects of a brief cognitive behavioural therapy group intervention on baseline brain perfusion in adolescents with major depressive disorder. Neuroreport.
  - https://doi.org/10.1097/WNR.000000000000770
- Stork, C., Renshaw, P.F., 2005. Mitochondrial dysfunction in bipolar disorder: Evidence from magnetic resonance spectroscopy research. Mol. Psychiatry. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.mp.4001711
- Strakowski, S.M., Delbello, M.P., Adler, C.M., 2012. The functional neuroanatomy of bipolar disorder: a review of neuroimaging findings. Mol. Psychiatry 10, 105–16. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.mp.4001585
- Swartz, H. a, Fagiolini, A., 2012. Cardiovascular disease and bipolar disorder: risk and clinical implications. J. Clin. Psychiatry 73, 1563–5. https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.12ac08227
- Syan, S.K., Smith, M., Frey, B.N., Remtulla, R., Kapczinski, F., Hall, G.B.C., Minuzzi, L., 2018. Resting-state functional connectivity in individuals with bipolar disorder during clinical remission: A systematic review. J. Psychiatry Neurosci. https://doi.org/10.1503/jpn.170175
- Toma, S., MacIntosh, B.J., Swardfager, W., Goldstein, B.I., 2018. Cerebral Blood Flow in Bipolar Disorder: A Systematic Review. J. Affect. Disord. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2018.08.040
- Townsend, J., Altshuler, L.L., 2012. Emotion processing and regulation in bipolar disorder: A review. Bipolar Disord. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-5618.2012.01021.x
- Tsuang, M.T., Woolson, R.F., Fleming, J.A., 1980. Causes of death in schizophrenia and manic-depression. Br. J. Psychiatry 136, 239–242. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.136.3.239
- Tutus, a, Simsek, a, Sofuoglu, S., Nardali, M., Kugu, N., Karaaslan, F., Gönül, a S., 1998. Changes in regional cerebral blood flow demonstrated by single photon emission computed tomography in depressive disorders: comparison of unipolar vs. bipolar subtypes. Psychiatry Res. 83, 169–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0925-4927(98)00037-7
- Urback, A.L., Metcalfe, A.W.S., Korczak, D.J., MacIntosh, B.J., Goldstein, B.I., 2019. Reduced cerebrovascular reactivity among adolescents with bipolar disorder. Bipolar Disord. https://doi.org/10.1111/bdi.12719
- Uytdenhoef, P., Portelange, P., Jacquy, J., Charles, G., Linkowski, P., Mendlewicz, J., 1983. Regional Cerebral Blood Flow and Lateralized Hemispheric Dysfunction in Depression 5, 128–133.
- Valtonen, H.M., Suominen, K., Haukka, J., Mantere, O., Leppämäki, S., Arvilommi, P., Isometsä, E.T., 2008. Differences in incidence of suicide attempts during phases of

bipolar I and II disorders. Bipolar Disord. 10, 588–596. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-5618.2007.00553.x

- van Dalen, J.W., Mutsaerts, H.J.M.M., Nederveen, A.J., Vrenken, H., Steenwijk, M.D., Caan, M.W.A., Majoie, C.B.L.M., van Gool, W.A., Richard, E., 2016. White Matter Hyperintensity Volume and Cerebral Perfusion in Older Individuals with Hypertension Using Arterial Spin-Labeling. AJNR. Am. J. Neuroradiol. 37, 1824–1830. https://doi.org/10.3174/ajnr.A4828
- Varga, M., Babovic, A., Flekkoy, K., Ronneberg, U., Landro, N.I., David, A.S., Opjordsmoen, S., 2009. Reduced insight in bipolar I disorder: Neurofunctional and neurostructural correlates. A preliminary study. J. Affect. Disord. 116, 56–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2008.11.005
- Venza, E.E., Chapman, S.B., Aslan, S., Zientz, J.E., Tyler, D.L., Spence, J.S., 2016. Enhancing executive function and neural health in bipolar disorder through reasoning training. Front. Psychol. 7, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01676
- Vernooij, M.W., Van Der Lugt, A., Ikram, M.A., Wielopolski, P.A., Vrooman, H.A., Hofman, A., Krestin, G.P., Breteler, M.M.B., 2008. Total cerebral blood flow and total brain perfusion in the general population: The Rotterdam Scan Study. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 28, 412–419. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.jcbfm.9600526
- Versace, A., Thompson, W.K., Zhou, D., Almeida, J.R.C., Hassel, S., Klein, C.R., Kupfer, D.J., Phillips, M.L., 2010. Abnormal Left and Right Amygdala-Orbitofrontal Cortical Functional Connectivity to Emotional Faces: State Versus Trait Vulnerability Markers of Depression in Bipolar Disorder. Biol. Psychiatry 67, 422–431. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.11.025
- Videbech, P., 2000. PET measurements of brain glucose metabolism and blood flow in major depressive disorder: A critical review. Acta Psychiatr. Scand. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0447.2000.101001011.x
- Villringer, A., Dirnagl, U., 1995. Coupling of brain activity and cerebral blood flow: basis of functional neuroimaging. Cerebrovasc. Brain Metab. Rev. https://doi.org/10.1186/1755-8166-7-S1-P74
- Watson, R., Latinus, M., Noguchi, T., Garrod, O., Crabbe, F., Belin, P., 2014. Crossmodal Adaptation in Right Posterior Superior Temporal Sulcus during Face-Voice Emotional Integration. J. Neurosci. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4478-13.2014
- Weathers, J., Lippard, E.T.C., Spencer, L., Pittman, B., Wang, F., Blumberg, H.P., 2018. Longitudinal Diffusion Tensor Imaging Study of Adolescents and Young Adults With Bipolar Disorder. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2017.11.014
- Weeke, A., Juel, K., Væth, M., 1987. Cardiovascular death and manic-depressive psychosis. J. Affect. Disord. 13, 287–292. https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-0327(87)90049-8
- Weinberger, D.R., Radulescu, E., 2016. Finding the elusive psychiatric "lesion" with 21stcentury neuroanatomy: A note of caution. Am. J. Psychiatry. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2015.15060753
- Wen, S. lin, Cheng, M. hua, Cheng, M. feng, Yue, J. hui, Wang, H., 2013. Pharmacotherapy response and regional cerebral blood flow characteristics in patients with obsessivecompulsive disorder. Behav. Brain Funct. https://doi.org/10.1186/1744-9081-9-31
- Westman, J., Hällgren, J., Wahlbeck, K., Erlinge, D., Alfredsson, L., Osby, U., 2013.

Cardiovascular mortality in bipolar disorder: a population-based cohort study in Sweden. BMJ Open 3, e002373. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2012-002373

- Whiteford, H.A., Degenhardt, L., Rehm, J., Baxter, A.J., Ferrari, A.J., Erskine, H.E., Charlson, F.J., Norman, R.E., Flaxman, A.D., Johns, N., Burstein, R., Murray, C.J.L., Vos, T., 2013. Global burden of disease attributable to mental and substance use disorders: Findings from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. Lancet. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)61611-6
- Whittaker, J.R., Driver, I.D., Bright, M.G., Murphy, K., 2016. The absolute CBF response to activation is preserved during elevated perfusion: Implications for neurovascular coupling measures. Neuroimage. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015.10.023
- Wilke, M., Kowatch, R.A., DelBello, M.P., Mills, N.P., Holland, S.K., 2004. Voxel-based morphometry in adolescents with bipolar disorder: first results. Psychiatry Res 131, 57–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pscychresns.2004.01.004
- Wintermark, M., Sesay, M., Barbier, E., Borbély, K., Dillon, W.P., Eastwood, J.D., Glenn, T.C., Grandin, C.B., Pedraza, S., Soustiel, J.-F., Nariai, T., Zaharchuk, G., Caillé, J.-M., Dousset, V., Yonas, H., 2005. Comparative overview of brain perfusion imaging techniques. Stroke. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.STR.0000177884.72657.8b
- Wood, F.B., Flowers, D.L., 1990. Hypofrontal vs. hypo-Sylvian blood flow in schizophrenia. Schizophr. Bull. 16, 413–424.
- Woolrich, M.W., Behrens, T.E.J., Beckmann, C.F., Jenkinson, M., Smith, S.M., 2004. Multilevel linear modelling for FMRI group analysis using Bayesian inference. Neuroimage. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2003.12.023
- Y. Zhang, M. Brady, and S.S., 2001. Segmentation of brain MR images through a hidden Markov random field model and the expectation maximization algorithm. IEEE Trans. Med. Imaging, 20, 45.57.
- Zhang, K., Herzog, H., Mauler, J., Filss, C., Okell, T.W., Kops, E.R., Tellmann, L., Fischer, T., Brocke, B., Sturm, W., Coenen, H.H., Shah, N.J., 2014. Comparison of cerebral blood flow acquired by simultaneous [150]water positron emission tomography and arterial spin labeling magnetic resonance imaging. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 34, 1373–1380. https://doi.org/10.1038/jcbfm.2014.92
- Zhao, L., Wang, Y., Jia, Y., Zhong, S., Sun, Y., Zhou, Z., Zhang, Z., Huang, L., 2017. Microstructural abnormalities of basal ganglia and thalamus in bipolar and unipolar disorders: A diffusion kurtosis and perfusion imaging study. Psychiatry Investig. 14, 471–482. https://doi.org/10.4306/pi.2017.14.4.471
- Zhao, L., Wang, Y., Jia, Y., Zhong, S., Sun, Y., Zhou, Z., Zhang, Z., Huang, L., 2016. Cerebellar microstructural abnormalities in bipolar depression and unipolar depression: A diffusion kurtosis and perfusion imaging study. J. Affect. Disord. 195, 21–31. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2016.01.042
- Zonneveld, H.I., Loehrer, E.A., Hofman, A., Niessen, W.J., van der Lugt, A., Krestin, G.P., Ikram, M.A., Vernooij, M.W., 2015. The bidirectional association between reduced cerebral blood flow and brain atrophy in the general population. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 35, 1882–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/jcbfm.2015.157

## Appendices

Appendix 1. Research ethics board approval

	Sunr	rybrook Research Ethics Office, Room C819 2075 Bayview Avenue Toronto ON Canada M4N 3M5
	HEALTH S	CIENCES CENTRE t: 416-480-6100 ext. 4276 or 88144 www.sunnybrook.ca/reo
	To:	Dr. Benjamin Goldstein Psychiatry Room FG 53
	From:	Dr. Philip Hébert
	Date:	December 21, 2011
	Subject:	Assessing Changes in Cerebral Perfusion and Neuropsychological Function in Response to Aerobic Exercise among Adolescents with versus without Bipolar Disorder

Project Identification Number: 408-2011 Approval Date: December 21, 2011 Expiry Date: December 21, 2012

The Research Ethics Board of Sunnybrook Health Sciences Centre has conducted a Delegated Board review of the research protocol referenced above and approved the involvement of human subjects on the above captioned date. The quorum for approval did not involve any member associated with this project.

The approval of this study includes the following documents:

- Protocol dated December 19, 2011
- Informed Consent Form for Adolescents 13-19 Years of Age Version 1 dated December 19, 2011
- Informed Consent Form for Parents of Adolescents 13-19 Years of Age Version 1 dated December 19, 2011
- Recruitment Poster (Must submit to Sunnybrook Communications & Stakeholder Relations for approval prior to posting.)
- Study tools (received November 15, 2011):
  - General Information Sheet
  - Child and Adolescent Health Screening Report
  - Family History Score Sheet First Degree Relatives
  - Family History Score Sheet Second Degree Relatives
  - o Family Medical History
  - K-SADS Mania Rating Scale
  - K-SADS-P Depression Section
  - Diagnostic Interview K-SADS-PL
  - K-SADS-PL Screen Interview
  - Exercise-Induced Feeling Inventory
  - PRETIE-Q

o PAR-Q

BORG'S Rating of Perceived Exertion The 10-Point Scale

o DUSI

- Wong-Baker Faces Pain Rating Scale
- WAVE Adults/Adolescents
- o Menstrual History Interview
- Tobacco Use Lifetime
- Sleep Quality Questionnaire
- o Petersen Pubertal Development Scale
- o Stressful Life Events Schedule (Adolescent Self-Report)
- Stressful Life Events Schedule (Parent about Child)
- EndoPAT Booklet
- o Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence

All correspondence with the REB must include the assigned Project Identification Number. The REB requires immediate notification of all internal serious adverse events and significant deviations. Study continuation beyond one year requires submission of a renewal form prior to the expiry date or a study completion report must be received to close the file with the REB.

All REB approved studies may be subject to review by the Sunnybrook Quality Assurance and Education Program and, as Principal Investigator, you are responsible for the ethical conduct of this study. Approval by the Sunnybrook REB entails compliance with current legislation outlined in the Ontario Personal Health Information Protection Act (PHIPA) and all policies and guidelines established by Sunnybrook. All applicable contracts and agreements must be submitted to Sunnybrook Legal Services before this research may be initiated.

Philip C. Hebert, MD PhD FCFPC Chair, Research Ethics Board <sup>44</sup>

OR

Miriam Shuchman, MD Vice-Chair, Research Ethics Board